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(millions of dollars, except share and per-share data) 2007 2006 2005
Revenues $ 80.3 $ 75.1 $ 52.9
Pre-tax income $ 12.4 $ 11.8 $ 7.2
Net income $ 7.2 $ 6.8 $ 7.6

Net income per Common Share:
Basic $ 0.33 $ 0.32 $ 0.38
Diluted $ 0.29 $ 0.28 $ 0.33

Weighted-average Common Shares outstanding (000):
Basic 22,280 21,491 20,043
Diluted 24,720 24,187 23,066

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 4.1 $ 8.2 $ 11.5

Cash and short-term investments* $ 32.5 $ 32.4 $ 16.4
Working capital* $ 45.1 $ 38.7 $ 19.6
Shareholders’ equity* $ 63.2 $ 47.7 $ 29.1

Closing stock price per Common Share* $ 22.65 $ 24.64 $ 9.07

*At year end

Financial Highlights

Fuel Tech, Inc. NASDAQ:FTEK

is a fully integrated company utilizing a suite of advanced technologies to provide boiler optimization, 

efficiency improvement and air pollution reduction and control solutions to utility and industrial customers 

worldwide. The Company’s core activities center on its proprietary nitrogen oxide (NOx) reduction processes 

and its unique application of chemicals to improve combustion unit performance. Fuel Tech’s products 

and services rely heavily on the Company’s exceptional computational fluid dynamics modeling skills, which 

are enhanced by internally developed, high-end visualization software. Additional information can be found 

at www.ftek.com.



John F. Norris Jr., President and CEO; Ralph E. Bailey, Executive Chairman; Douglas G. Bailey, Deputy Chairman

  2007 was a year of both major challenges and tremendous 
accomplishments at Fuel Tech. We began the year by setting some 
very aggressive financial targets for our whole team. Although we 
fell somewhat short of these objectives, we did set new records for 
revenues and pre-tax income, as well as contract awards in each 
of our technology segments. All in all, I am quite pleased with our 
progress during 2007 and believe we have laid the groundwork 
for entering a new, exciting growth phase in our business.
  First, though, a financial recap of the year just passed. 
Revenues for 2007 totaled $80.3 million, up 7% from 2006. Net 
income was $7.2 million, or $0.29 per diluted share, compared 
with $6.8 million, or $0.28 per diluted share, in 2006. Net 
income for 2007 was only exceeded by results for 2005, when 
the recording of one-time tax benefits enhanced reported income. 
Pre-tax income for 2007 totaled a record $12.4 million.
  Our revenue and income gains were constrained by timing 
factors in each of the Company’s technology segments. In the air 
pollution control (APC) segment, unanticipated order delays limited 
our ability to recognize revenues on contracts eventually signed 
during 2007, as over 80% of our orders were concentrated in the 
last five months of the year. Likewise, in our FUEL CHEM®

technology segment, implementation of numerous demonstration 
programs was delayed during the first nine months of 2007 due to 
a variety of coincidental, unrelated factors. The good news is that we 
were awarded a record 13 FUEL CHEM demonstration programs, 
principally for large, domestic coal-fired boilers, and these units 
are expected to generate significant revenues during 2008.
  Despite the sluggish start, the pace of APC contract awards 
kicked into high gear during the second half of 2007, resulting in 
full-year bookings of $60 million, well above our previous record 
of $43 million. These orders reflect an extraordinarily active 
quotation environment, both in the United States and abroad, and 
we see a continuation of this upswing into 2008. Fueled by these 
record-setting contract wins, our fourth-quarter revenues of 
$32.6 million set an all-time corporate record, surpassing the prior 
record-high quarter by over 60%.

  With bookings heavily weighted towards the second half of 
the year, Fuel Tech ended 2007 with a record-tying backlog 
of $28 million, up significantly from the $12 million recorded at 
year-end 2006. This provides a strong earnings foundation for 
2008, as well as greater financial visibility for the APC portion of 
our business.

* * * *

  Today, we are in the midst of one of the most rapid global 
environmental transformations in history, a “green” revolution, 
where nations, industries and individuals are demanding cleaner 
and more efficient energy production. Overlaying these heightened 
environmental concerns are a number of industry trends that only 
serve to exacerbate this issue. These include a rapid escalation 
in global energy demand and the increased use of coal to satisfy 
this demand, which drives up coal prices and causes power 
generators to seek new fuel sources, typically lower quality coals, 
to feed their plants. In addition, local resistance to building new, 
more efficient coal-fired generation and surging construction costs 
have caused utilities to focus on generating more production from 
their existing units while making them cleaner and more efficient. 
Finally, the development of renewable energy sources, such as 
biomass, municipal waste and landfill gas, is gaining favor with 
energy producers and consumers alike.
  As power producers strive to reduce their environmental 
footprint, they are turning increasingly to the types of approaches 
offered by Fuel Tech. We believe our suite of technologies is helping 
to facilitate the movement to cleaner energy production, while 
providing outstanding value to our customers with performance 
driven, cost-effective solutions.
  Our family of nitrogen oxide (NOx) reduction technologies, 
with over 450 installations, is ideally suited to tackle the broad 
range of pollutant control challenges faced by our global clients, 
be they in the United States, Europe or the People’s Republic of 
China (PRC). For example, our NOxOUT CASCADE® technology 
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is designed to achieve high levels of NOx reduction at a fraction 
of the capital cost of competing selective catalytic reduction (SCR) 
systems, an important criterion for any power plant operator. 
Likewise, our NOxOUT ULTRA® technology is designed to provide 
a safer urea-based process for introducing ammonia into SCR 
systems. This approach can be expected to gain momentum in 
the United States as the Department of Homeland Security 
recently declared anhydrous ammonia a Toxic Inhalation Hazard 
commodity. This characterization is contributing to new restrictions 
by rail carriers on the movement of anhydrous ammonia and to 
an escalation in associated rail transport and insurance rates.

  Our FUEL CHEM programs are currently deployed on over 
90 units worldwide, with a growing emphasis on existing coal-fired 
units. Our approach continues to gain market acceptance as our 
proprietary TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ technology 
offers compelling economics in the areas of operational energy 
efficiency and plant emission reductions. These program benefits 
have grown in importance as restrictions on new plant construction 
press older generating units into longer service, and as the quality 
of coal utilized steadily declines. This latter phenomenon reflects 
expanded use of higher sulfur and Western coals in the 
United States, which can potentially give rise to sulfur trioxide 
(SO3) emission and/or slagging issues; and the increased use of 
lower ash fusion temperature coals in the PRC and India. 
Feedstock quality issues are not confined to coal. In countries 
such as Mexico, heavy fuel oils, which contain high levels of 
vanadium and sulfur, can also give rise to slagging and SO3

emission issues.
  Whether treating coal-fired or oil-fired units, our approach 
enhances boiler efficiency, thereby reducing the amount of fuel 
input required per unit of energy output. With greater efficiency 
comes a reduction in the rate (CO2 per megawatt-hour) of 
emissions of carbon dioxide, a greenhouse gas that may contribute 
to global warming. Our FUEL CHEM programs can be expected 
to reduce such emissions by 2%–4%, offering some immediate 
reduction of CO2 while simultaneously reducing costs.

* * * *

  During 2007 we positioned ourselves for strong growth in 
each of our technology segments. Perhaps nowhere is this best 
exemplified than by our efforts in the PRC, where we are building 
relationships, infrastructure and an organization to help penetrate 
what is arguably the world’s largest and most exciting market for 
our technologies. In June we signed a one-year exclusive teaming 
agreement with ITOCHU Hong Kong Ltd., a subsidiary of ITOCHU 
Corporation, which has been serving Chinese power plants for 
many years. In January 2008, we achieved our first success 
under this arrangement with the signing of a FUEL CHEM 

demonstration order. Discussions with other target plants are well 
underway and should benefit from financial incentives provided 
power producers under the PRC government’s energy efficiency 
improvement programs. We have also expanded our local presence 
in the PRC by forming Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental 
Technologies Co., Ltd. (BFT). Our Beijing office now houses a 
top-notch management team and an outstanding cadre of 
employees who are focused on winning new APC business and 
implementing projects previously awarded to Fuel Tech. In 
March 2008 Fuel Tech announced $6.7 million in contracts, 
which included multiple NOxOUT ULTRA systems in China. In 

the future, we expect BFT to win many additional APC projects 
in the PRC.
  Elsewhere in Asia, we have spent considerable time 
developing relationships with some of the largest power producers 
in India. This, too, has begun to pay dividends with the January 
2008 announcement of our first Indian FUEL CHEM order. As is 
the case with the PRC, the coal-fired electricity generation market 
in India is booming and the need for increased energy efficiency 
is a top priority item. We anticipate additional opportunities for 
our FUEL CHEM business line in India during 2008.
  In Europe, we see several new markets developing for Fuel 
Tech. In Western Europe, we won our first two TIFI biomass 
projects in Italy during 2007 and are now focusing on biomass 
and waste-to-energy initiatives for slag and corrosion control. 
Such clean energy opportunities are expected to multiply, 
particularly as crude oil prices hover at historic levels. In addition, 
we were awarded our first European NOxOUT ULTRA business 
and believe new opportunities will arise out of ammonia safety 
concerns. In Eastern Europe, we won our first APC project in 
Romania and are optimistic that more business will develop as 
new admittees to the European Union are required to take 
concrete steps to reduce NOx emissions.
  Closer to home, we see tremendous opportunity in Mexico, 
where we are a step closer to realizing this market’s potential 
following the November announcement of the highly prestigious 
Innovative Technology Award for 2007. The award, bestowed 
annually by Comision Federal de Electricidad (CFE), the national 
utility of Mexico, and presented by the President of Mexico, 
reflects the critical role played by a FUEL CHEM program in 
mitigating SO3 emissions from CFE’s Punta Prieta thermoelectric 
power plant in La Paz, Mexico. A copy of the award, along with 
“before and after” pictures of the plant’s SO3 emissions, is located 
on page 9. SO3 emissions are a major problem for oil and coal 
units in Mexico and Fuel Tech has now provided a proven solution 
to this serious environmental issue. We also view our success in 
Mexico as a logical stepping stone to the burgeoning power 
generation industries of Latin and South America.

Today, we are in the midst of one of the most rapid global environmental transformations in history, a 

“green” revolution, where nations, industries and individuals are demanding cleaner 

and more efficient energy production.
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 The United States will remain a highly robust market
for Fuel Tech. The surge in APC orders experienced during
the second half of 2007 should follow through in 2008 and 
beyond in the wake of the Clean Air Interstate Rule and the Clean 
Air Visibility Rule, which take effect in 2009 and 2013,
respectively. These rules create fertile applications for our NOxOUT
CASCADE and NOxOUT ULTRA technologies, as well as our
combined Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction/Rich Reagent
Injection systems. We also
see the development of 
new markets for our APC
technologies, such as the 
domestic industrial boiler 
market, which contains 
thousands of units that 
could be a natural fit 
for our low capital cost 
approach. In addition, a
number of other promising
opportunities are being 
made possible by evolu-
tionary advances in our 
NOxOUT ULTRA systems, 
as discussed in the APC 
section of this report.

Fuel Tech’s domestic FUEL CHEM segment will maintain 
strong momentum as we continue to attract new customers and
expand our presence at existing client sites. Much of our success
is made possible by the quantifiable benefits documented by our
customers. We are particularly gratified that one of our major 
clients, Santee Cooper, has co-authored a Case Study with
Fuel Tech on the environmental, economic and operating benefits 
associated with our TIFI technology. A summary of this paper
begins on page 11.

While our existing slag inhibition and SO3 reduction
capabilities offer a large untapped market, we continue to seek
other TIFI applications to meet evolving customer needs. One
approach we are pursuing is the development of a “chemical 
cocktail” that can be applied via TIFI technology to solve any one
of a multitude of combustion-related issues, such as the control
of sulfur dioxide or mercury emissions. The development of such
an approach would expand our target markets considerably.

* * * *

 To accommodate our plans for rapid business expansion,
we intend to relocate our corporate headquarters by June 1st
to Warrenville, Illinois, not far from our headquarters in Batavia
on the west side of the Chicago metropolitan area. Our newly 
constructed office facility is twice the size of our current space in
Batavia and offers significant upgrades to the technologies we use
to deliver optimal solutions to our customers. For example, we
added a second 3D visualization room with a large high-definition
(HD) screen, as well as seating for a larger number of customers
and visitors. This theater-style room will improve our ability 
to demonstrate and communicate key aspects of APC and
FUEL CHEM projects. We will also be upgrading our product

development function with new capabilities, such as expanded
cold flow modeling.

* * * *

I am very pleased to announce that Mr. Delbert L.
Williamson, retired President, Global Commercial Operations, GE
Energy, Inc., was elected to the Fuel Tech Board of Directors on

February 21, 2008 and 
will stand for reelection to
the Board at its 2008 
Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting. Del has over 45 
years of energy-related 
experience, virtually all 
with General Electric 
Company, and we look 
forward to leveraging his
expertise as we penetrate
new markets. Coincident 
with Mr. Williamson’s 
election, Mr. Samer S. 
Khanachet resigned from
the Board due to relocation 

to his homeland of Kuwait, where he has been named Chief 
Operating Officer of Kuwait Projects Co. (Holding). We wish
to thank Samer for his many years of exemplary service to 
the Company.

* * * *

Fuel Tech exited 2007 with exceptional momentum and we
see no evidence of a slowdown in 2008. With an unparalleled
surge in activity, we do recognize that one of our greatest 
challenges will be project execution; to that end, we have
assembled a very talented and capable management team, one
that is up to the task of rapidly and profitably growing our
business. We are also mindful of the very unique portfolio of clean 
technologies we have created and the successes we have had in
developing the types of pollution control and energy efficiency
solutions that our customers demand. With such a strong 
combination of individuals and technologies, I have great 
confidence that Fuel Tech will continue to be highly successful in
its chosen markets and that the future of your Company is
exceedingly bright.
 On behalf of the Board of Directors and employees of 
Fuel Tech, I wish to thank you for your continuing support.

Sincerely,

John F. Norris Jr.
President and Chief Executive Officer

March 5, 2008

Fuel Tech’s new Corporate Headquarters in Warrenville, Illinois.
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Green Economics, Clean Technologies
Caring for the ecosystem of the planet is a responsibility in which we all share. Fuel Tech 

derives economic benefit by providing environmentally positive, “green” technologies

that help facilitate cleaner and more efficient energy production.
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Air Pollution Control
(NOxOUT®)

  Fuel Tech’s air pollution control (APC) technologies are installed worldwide 

on over 450 combustion units, including utility, industrial and municipal solid 

waste applications. To help our customers improve air quality and satisfy 

environmental protection objectives, the Company offers a broad suite of 

innovative clean energy technologies, focusing on the reduction of nitrogen oxide 

(NOx) emissions. The Company’s portfolio of NOx reduction technologies is 

considered versatile, flexible and unique and can be deployed in a cost-effective 

manner on a variety of combustion units burning various fuels, meeting both 

unit-specific and/or total emission control objectives.

Back Row: Limin (Matthew) Zhu, Li (Leo) Ma, Xiaofeng (Michael) Cai, 
Jianjun (J.J.) Zhang, Tian Dai (Sky), Xianglian (Jenny) Xu, Xinwei (David) 
Zhang and Yu (Eric) Wei.

Front Row: Lu (Selina) Li, Ying (Sophie) Zhang, Xianbin (Robin) Yan and 
Lijun (Kevin) Kou.

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental Technologies Co., Ltd. Fuel Tech SrL (Italy)

Back Row: Pierangelo Ponzoni, Christiano De Candia, Massimo Grigolon, 
Luciana Broggi, Donatella Furlanetto and Luci Cesbron.

Front Row: Paolo Ceriani, Davide Giacchello, Andrea Laudi and Piers de 
Havilland. Not shown: Francois Grimard.  
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  Principal among Fuel Tech’s portfolio of NOx reduction 
technologies are:

® process, a Selective Non-Catalytic 
Reduction (SNCR) approach that underpins the Company’s 
various NOx control systems. Good for both new and retrofit 
applications at costs as low as $5 per kilowatt, this 
technology can be deployed either on a stand-alone basis, 
to achieve typical NOx reductions of 25%–30% or higher, or 
in conjunction with complementary technologies, such as 
Rich Reagent Injection (RRI) and NOxOUT CASCADE®, for 
significantly greater NOx reduction.

lower furnace with staged combustion for a combined SNCR/
RRI NOx reduction of 50%. RRI technology is licensed from 
Reaction Engineering International and Electric Power 
Research Institute.

SCR/SNCR process, a multi-stage system integrating a 
special urea-based SNCR process with a compact Selective 
Catalytic Reduction (SCR) module for NOx reduction up to 
80%. Hybrid systems offer a number of advantages over 
full-scale SCR systems offering NOx controls up to 90%, 
including lower capital cost and reduced space requirements. 
With a capital cost ranging from $30–$75 per kilowatt, the 
proprietary NOxOUT CASCADE approach has become 
increasingly attractive versus SCR systems, which have 
capital costs ranging from $150–$400 per kilowatt.

® process, which provides for the safe 
and cost-effective on-site conversion of urea to ammonia for 
use as a reagent in the SCR process, eliminating the hazards 
associated with the transport, storage and handling of 
aqueous and anhydrous ammonia.

  These robust technologies provide a strong foundation for 
satisfying the increasingly stringent environmental needs of our 
growing customer base, particularly in the United States, the 
People’s Republic of China (PRC) and Eastern Europe. 
  Domestically, demand for the Company’s technologies is 
accelerating in response to the tightening NOx reduction provisions 
of the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) regulations, which are 
scheduled to take effect in 2009. 
  In the PRC, the 2008 Summer Olympics in Beijing has 
served as a catalyst for further environmental actions such as NOx 
emission reduction. Moreover, the PRC’s government has 
expressed concern about escalating toxic air emissions resulting 
from the rapidly escalating number of fossil-fueled power plants. 
  In Eastern Europe, nations that recently joined the European 
Union must begin to come into compliance with more challenging 
NOx emission standards.
  In addition, wherever SCR projects are being contemplated, 
there is heightened sensitivity to the need for safely delivering 
ammonia to the NOx reduction system, particularly in densely 
populated areas or where high-volume chemical transport 
is involved.
  Each of these trends benefited Fuel Tech during 2007 and 
contributed to record annual orders of $60 million. These orders 
were heavily weighted towards the second half of the year, 
resulting in a record-tying year-end backlog of $28 million.

  Among the more noteworthy developments for the APC 
business in 2007 were the following:

SNCR/RRI systems. Covering a total of six small, coal-fired 
units, these projects are designed to help our clients, two new 
Midwestern utility customers, satisfy CAIR requirements.

includes a client option to add NOxOUT CASCADE systems 
at a later date in order to achieve deeper NOx reductions, as 
may be required. A similar arrangement was negotiated in 
the PRC during 2005.

recent Eastern European admittees to the EU, will need to 
take significant proactive measures to improve air quality.

a record five orders were announced, two in the PRC, two 
in the United States and one in Europe. Of particular 
significance, the PRC orders were made possible by the 
incorporation of an innovative and more flexible system 
design that enables liquid fuels to be used as a heat source 
in lieu of natural gas, which is not as prevalent in China.

Technologies Co., Ltd. (BFT), which has enabled a much 
expanded presence in the PRC, arguably the world’s largest 
potential market for environmental products and energy 
conservation programs. Serving as General Manager is Mr. 
Lijun Kou, who leads all facets of its operations. Mr. Kou brings 
over 20 years of valuable experience, having held a variety of 
senior positions in the environmental and electric power 
industries. Mr. Xianbin Yan serves as Administrative General 
Manager, with principal responsibility for day-to-day operations. 
Mr. Limin Zhu is Chief Engineer, overseeing all aspects of local 
engineering, including project execution and management.

BFT has worked closely with China Huaneng Group, the 
country’s largest coal-based power generator, to ensure the 
successful start-up of the PRC’s first NOxOUT ULTRA system 
in support of four thermal electric generating units retrofitted 
with SCRs. This project, along with the ongoing start-up of a 
second NOxOUT ULTRA initiative at another Beijing power 
plant, will jointly contribute to cleaner air in the nation’s 
capital. BFT was also actively involved in laying the groundwork 
for the March 2008 award of a large NOxOUT ULTRA project 
in China. With a potential NOx control market of over 3,000 
units in the PRC, BFT is engaged in active discussions with 
a number of electric utilities that are committed to deploying 
NOx reduction systems during the next several years.

  Significant progress was also made on other initiatives 
designed to address promising new markets. For example, we are 
developing compact NOxOUT ULTRA systems for use in small 
industrial SCR applications, such as those found in oil field steam 
generators, food processing plants, and in heating plants on 
college campuses. We are also designing a multiple independently 
controllable NOxOUT ULTRA system. Such a system would utilize 
a single urea decomposition chamber to feed ammonia 
simultaneously to multiple SCR systems, as one might find at a 
large landfill site, where waste gas such as methane could be 
utilized as a clean energy source for gas turbines. California is 
considered a prime market for this “green” approach to alternative 
energy production, although such product enhancements would 
also serve needs identified in Europe and the PRC.
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The FUEL CHEM® technology segment revolves around the
application of specialty chemicals utilizing patented TIFI™ Targeted 
In-Furnace Injection™ technology to improve the efficiency, reliability 
and environmental status of boilers of all types, including electric
utility, industrial, waste-to-energy and university heating units.

FUEL CHEM programs are designed to attack performance-
hindering conditions, such as slagging, fouling, corrosion, opacity,
acid plume and loss on ignition, as well as the formation of sulfur
trioxide (SO3), ammonium bisulfate, particulate matter (PM2.5), 
carbon dioxide (CO2) and nitrogen oxide. In addition, FUEL CHEM 
initiatives can enhance fuel flexibility, enabling plant operators to
burn lower cost fuels, often at significant savings.

As the impetus grows for improving operational energy 
efficiency and limiting the environmental impact of power 
production, FUEL CHEM programs remain at the forefront in 
meeting the demands of a clean energy marketplace. Fuel Tech
continuously strives to help its
clients satisfy their “green”
objectives by offering them
unparalleled value propositions.
For example, financial risk-
sharing arrangements, in which
customer-specified objectives
must be satisfied during a trial
period, are a central element of 
our demonstration programs.
Typically, our clients enjoy returns
on investment (ROI) of greater
than 4 to 1, offering compelling
financial justification for main-
taining chemical injection pro-
grams once initiated.

The operating and financial
benefits associated with TIFI
technology are perhaps best
exemplified by our customers’
independent assessments and evaluations of actual performance:

C.V., a general contractor, was officially recognized by 
Comision Federal de Electricidad (CFE), the Mexican national 
utility, with the 2007 Technological Development and 
Innovation Award. This prestigious award, presented by 
Felipe Calderón, President of Mexico, was bestowed in 
recognition of the SO3 emission reductions achieved at the
oil-fired Punta Prieta electric generating station in La Paz.
Images of the environmental benefits associated with the 
FUEL CHEM application at Punta Prieta are displayed on the
facing page. Discussions are underway on treating other CFE
power plants with similar environmental challenges.

FUEL CHEM program at Santee Cooper’s Cross Generating
Station. A Case Study summarizing the breadth and 
effectiveness of TIFI technology at this power plant is
presented in the following section.

During 2007 the fuel treatment chemicals segment had
tremendous success as a record 13 new FUEL CHEM orders 
utilizing TIFI technology were awarded, including six from new
customers. As indicated in the FUEL CHEM® Customer Units table
at the top of page 10, most of these orders were for treatment of 
large, coal-fired boilers in the United States, where the market
available to Fuel Tech remains largely untapped.
 One of the key customer unit additions in 2007 was secured
as part of a three-year contract with Santee Cooper, primarily to
address the environmental and operational effects of SO3 formation. 

Based on historical run rates at 
the customer’s site, and subject 
to the contract’s anticipated
length and specified dollar
amount, this announcement rep-
resents the largest FUEL CHEM 
program order in Fuel Tech’s
history. In addition, at 1,800
megawatts, it is also the largest 
site-wide implementation of a
FUEL CHEM program in the
world. Chemical feed is underway 
on three units at the Cross Station, 
including one that started injection 
early in 2008.

 Also of note in the United 
States was the first commercial 
order for TCI™ Targeted Corrosion 
Inhibition™ technology, a pat-
ented, high-temperature slag/

corrosion control technology designed principally for boilers in the
waste-to-energy industry. TCI programs, such as this one at Maine
Energy Recovery Company, inhibit chloride-induced corrosion
arising from the burning of plastics and other materials contained
in municipal solid waste or refuse derived fuel and are designed
to reduce corrosion rates in excess of 50%.

Overseas, the Company conducted its first application of TIFI
technology on two biomass units in Europe, where combustion of 
wood chips and olive husks are prevalent for electricity generation. 
The sharp rise in crude oil prices is encouraging greater use of 
renewable energy sources such as biomass and waste to energy.

A major initiative was undertaken to penetrate the vast market
in the People’s Republic of China (PRC) when, in June 2007, 
Fuel Tech signed a one-year exclusive teaming agreement with
ITOCHU Hong Kong Ltd., a subsidiary of ITOCHU Corporation.

Fuel Treatment Chemicals
(FUEL CHEM®)

A translucent orange iso-surface is created to visualize likely slag and 
fouling fronts in a furnace at a prespecified ash fusion temperature. 
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Before

After

The effectiveness of a FUEL CHEM® program on SO3 stack 

emissions is demonstrated in these “before” and “after” images of 

CFE’s Punta Prieta thermoelectric power plant in La Paz, Mexico. 

In recognition of the SO3 abatement equipment, which incorporates 

TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ technology, CFE bestowed 

its prestigious Innovative Technology Award for 2007 to Fuel Tech 

and Double V Holding, S.A. de C.V., a general contractor.
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FUEL CHEM® Customer Units

Coal-Burning Units Available U.S. Units 12/31/06 12/31/07

Large (  500 MW) 266 7 15

Medium (  100 but <500MW) 545 10 10

Small (<100 MW) 701 6 8

1,512 23 33

International

Large 0 0

Medium 2 2

Small 0 0

Subtotal 25 35

Non Coal-Burning Units*

Large 20 7 7

Medium 57 7 7

Small 587 7 8

664 21 22

International

Large 0 0

Medium 1 1

Small 29 31

Subtotal 51 54

* Includes fuels such as heavy oil, biomass, black liquor, 
wood, tires, olive pits, petroleum coke and municipal waste. Total Customer Units 76 89**

** The latest customer unit count is available at www.ftek.com.

Under terms of the agreement, which include the Hong Kong 
Special Administrative Region (SAR) and the Macau SAR, Fuel 
Tech and ITOCHU are equal team members, operating under a 
shared management board and sharing in the financial outcome 
of any TIFI program sale, with Fuel Tech retaining all intellectual 
property rights associated with the TIFI program. As an outgrowth 
of this agreement, a TIFI demonstration program was secured in 
January 2008 on a large, coal-fired utility unit, with the objectives of 
improving boiler heat transfer performance and fuel flexibility while 
reducing toxic air emissions and the rate of CO2 production.
  Elsewhere in Asia, market development activities initiated 
during 2007 came to fruition in 2008 with the January signing 

of the Company’s first FUEL CHEM demonstration program in 
India, one of the world’s largest and fastest growing power 
generating markets. The demonstration, awarded by one of India’s 
largest industrial enterprises, is designed to inhibit slag formation in 
a large boiler arising from the use of imported coals, which can 
exhibit slagging tendencies due to lower ash fusion temperatures.
  Thus far in 2008, four FUEL CHEM orders have been 
announced, including the aforementioned contracts in the PRC 
and India. The balance comprises two orders for oil-fired units, a 
medium-sized unit in the United States and a small unit in Canada.
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Case Study: Santee Cooper’s Cross Station

  During the past 18 months, Fuel Tech and Santee Cooper, 
South Carolina’s state-owned electric utility, have cooperated to 
demonstrate the capabilities of a TIFI program at Cross Generating 
Station. The program’s impetus arose from a fuel switching 
initiative on Cross Units 1 and 2, each a 600 megawatt (MW) 
boiler outfitted with a Selective Catalytic Reduction (SCR) system 
for year-round nitrogen oxide (NOx) control. The new coal had a 
higher sulfur and iron content and was characterized by a lower 
ash fusion temperature. Most problematic was the coal’s iron 
content, 1 lb per million BTU, compared with a boiler design of 
0.56 lb per million BTU. Ash fusion temperatures ranged from 
2,000–2,100ºF, compared with a 2,500ºF boiler design.
  The new coal qualities exacerbated slagging and fouling in 
Unit 1, as well as SCR fouling caused by the formation of large 
particle ash (“popcorn ash”). In addition, the formation of hard 
and dense pieces of slag, known as “clinkers,” resulted in broken 
clinker grinders. Slag formation required removal with explosives, 
sometimes delaying the start of outage work in the boiler by 
24–36 hours. Popcorn ash forced SCR on-line cleaning. Unit 2 
also experienced slagging and performance-related issues 
following the fuel switch.
  With the introduction of coals with higher sulfur and higher 
iron content, both units began experiencing opacity issues caused 
by sulfuric acid mist emissions, which arose from the formation 
of sulfur trioxide (SO3). SO3 formation is made possible by several 
different reaction mechanisms, including oxidation of SO2 in the 
furnace’s combustion zone, which can increase with high iron 
levels in the ash, and catalytic oxidation of SO2, which can be 
triggered by the presence of vanadium in SCR catalysts.
  To address the foregoing issues, TIFI technology was 
deployed on Unit 1 beginning in April 2006 with the objectives 
noted below.

3-related opacity issues

After approximately four months, early success prompted the 
initiation of the same program on Unit 2.
  The TIFI approach utilizes computational fluid dynamics 
(CFD) models and proprietary visualization software to determine 

the precise amount and location of chemicals to be fed into a 
boiler to achieve slag control and/or SO3 mitigation. Treatment 
chemicals, primarily magnesium hydroxide, are mixed with air 
and water and custom-targeted at regions favoring chemical 
reactions for SO3 formation or at problem heat transfer surfaces. 
The additive penetrates existing slag deposits to alter their 
physical crystal characteristics, reducing structural integrity. As 
slag becomes more friable, it is more easily cleaned from surfaces. 
Generally, a cleaner furnace can operate more efficiently and 
generate less SO3.
  The TIFI program was found to provide significant performance 
improvements and more than pay for itself. Among the many 
documented benefits were:

A dramatic reduction in SO3 concentrations throughout the 
boiler and flue gas system at high load. As indicated in the 
chart below, treating Unit 2 with 5 lb magnesium hydroxide 
per ton of coal reduced SO3 concentrations at the economizer 
outlet, SCR outlet, and air heater outlet by 46%, 66% and 
56%, respectively. The reduction at the SCR outlet is 
particularly noteworthy as the treated flue gases had two thirds 
less SO3 available to influence opacity emissions.

In January 2008, a Case Study was jointly presented by Fuel Tech and Santee Cooper at Electric Utilities Environmental 

Conference (EUEC) 2008. The paper, titled “Controlling SO3, Slag and Fouling Resulting in Improved Heat Rates, Better 

Efficiency and Allowing for Fuel Flexibility—Santee Cooper, Cross Station Case Study,” demonstrates that a TIFI™ Targeted 

In-Furnace Injection™ program application to control opacity from SO3 emissions can provide a substantial return on 

investment while solving a challenging environmental problem. In contrast, most environmental solutions require additional 

capital, operating and maintenance costs with little or no financial payback. A summary of the study is presented below. 

The entire study is available on Fuel Tech’s website at www.ftek.com.
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Control of SO3-related opacity, regardless of fuel characteristics.

A contribution to the decline in popcorn ash on Unit 1, which 
significantly reduced SCR fouling and the need for SCR
cleanings. Improved furnace cleanliness resulted in improved
unit availability and heat rate, the latter a measure of heat
input per unit of work output, typically BTU/kilowatt-hour.

A significant reduction in slagging and fouling, even with higher
slag forming coals. Prior to TIFI treatment, consistent build-ups
of slag were evident on water walls and superheat pendants,
among other areas. Bottom ash was difficult to remove,
requiring high-pressure blasting, and the clinker grinder system
often required daily maintenance. Following treatment, there
was significant improvement in surface cleanliness and bottom
ash handling as slag became more friable, lighter and easier to
control. Clinker growth was controlled and clinker grinder
maintenance was dramatically reduced. Outage cleaning times
were reduced by over 50%.

Improved boiler efficiency and heat rate. TIFI treatment 
significantly reduced slag and fouling and this resulted in
improved heat transfer in the furnace and convective pass.
Boiler efficiency, a measure of the ratio of heat absorbed in
steam to the heat supplied in fuel, increased by 0.65% over
the load range; average net heat rate improved 120 BTU/
kilowatt-hour, about 1.25%, despite a reduction in average
fuel heat content of 225 BTU/lb, which impairs heat rate. The
impact of a TIFI treatment on boiler efficiency and net heat
rate is reflected in the charts at the top of this page.

Increase in maximum load capability. The reduction in SCR 
cleanings and reduced need for load sheds to control slag led
to a dramatic increase in average maximum load capability of 
44.5 MW (net).

Enhanced fuel blending flexibility, which allowed Cross Station 
to utilize lower ash fusion temperature coals having nearly
twice the iron. Typically, lower fusion coals are less expensive
to purchase, and the TIFI treatment generated additional
savings by reducing fuel costs. Regardless of coal type, boiler
efficiency improvements were recorded throughout the TIFI
treatment period.

A reduction in Total Toxic Release air emissions of 20%, with 
a 35% reduction in sulfuric acid mist emissions. This reduction
on Unit 1 was generated over a nine-month period, and further
reductions are expected for a full year.

While pursuing the environmental concern of opacity control,
Fuel Tech’s TIFI program was able to generate very significant
savings to Santee Cooper. In fact, a Return on Investment in
excess of 4 to 1 was realized by Cross Generating Station from
improved unit performance with additional savings realized from
increased fuel flexibility. In summary, the TIFI program provides a
new approach for reducing fuel and operating costs by burning
the higher sulfur and lower ash fusion temperature coals that
cause increases in SO3OO  emissions.

12



13Fuel Tech 2007 Annual Report

The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 
December 31, 2007, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

For the years ended December 31

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Revenues $80,297 $75,115 $52,928 $30,832 $35,736
Cost of sales 42,471 38,429 27,118 16,566 21,789
Selling, general and administrative and other costs 
and expenses 27,087 25,953 18,655 14,130 12,978

Operating income 10,739 10,733 7,155 136 969
Net income 7,243 6,826 7,588 1,572 1,120

Basic income per Common Share $ 0.33 $ 0.32 $ 0.38 $ 0.08 $ 0.06
Diluted income per Common Share $ 0.29 $ 0.28 $ 0.33 $ 0.07 $ 0.05
Weighted-average basic shares outstanding 22,280,000 21,491,000 20,043,000 19,517,000 19,637,000
Weighted-average diluted shares outstanding 24,720,000 24,187,000 23,066,000 22,155,000 22,412,000

December 31

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Working capital $45,143 $38,715 $19,590 $11,292 $10,973
Total assets 87,214 65,660 44,075 23,828 21,598
Long-term obligations 1,255 500 448 505 299
Total liabilities 23,975 18,005 14,939 4,873 4,287
Shareholders’ equity(1) 63,239 47,655 29,136 18,955 17,311
Net tangible book value per share(2) $ 2.43 $ 1.83 $ 1.12 $ 0.70 $ 0.61

Notes:
(1)  Shareholders’ equity includes principal amount of nil coupon non-redeemable perpetual loan notes. See Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
(2)  Net tangible book value per share is defined as shareholders’ equity less intangible assets, divided by weighted-average shares outstanding, and assumes full conversion 

of Fuel Tech’s nil coupon non-redeemable perpetual loan notes into shares of Fuel Tech’s Common Shares.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares Fuel Tech’s total return to stockholders per share of Common Stock for the five years ended December 31, 
2007 with that of (1) the NASDAQ® Composite Index and (2) the WilderHill Clean Energy Index.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

Background

Fuel Tech, Inc. (“Fuel Tech”) has two broad technology segments 
that provide advanced engineering solutions to meet the pollution 
control, efficiency improvement, and operational optimization needs 
of energy-related facilities worldwide. They are as follows:

Nitrogen Oxide (“NOx”) Reduction Technologies
The nitrogen oxide (“NOx”) reduction technology segment includes 
the NOxOUT®, NOxOUT CASCADE®, NOxOUT ULTRA® and 
NOxOUT-SCR® processes for the reduction of NOx emissions in 
flue gas from boilers, incinerators, furnaces and other stationary 
combustion sources. Fuel Tech distributes its products through 
its direct sales force, licensees and agents.

Fuel Treatment Chemicals 
The fuel treatment chemicals technology segment uses chemical 
processes, including TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ 
technology, to control slagging, fouling, corrosion, opacity, acid 
plume and loss on ignition, as well as the formation of sulfur 
trioxide, ammonium bisulfate, particulate matter (PM2.5), carbon 
dioxide and NOx in furnaces and boilers. Fuel Tech sells its fuel 
treatment chemicals through its direct sales force and agents to 
industrial and utility power-generation facilities. FUEL CHEM®

programs are currently in place on over 90 combustion units, 
treating a wide variety of solid and liquid fuels, including coal, 
heavy oil, biomass and municipal waste. The FUEL CHEM program 
improves the efficiency, reliability and environmental status of plants 
operating in the electric utility, industrial, pulp and paper, and 
waste-to-energy markets and offers numerous operational, financial 
and environmental benefits to owners of boilers, furnaces and 
other combustion units. 

The key market dynamic for both technology segments is 
the continued use of coal as the principal fuel source for global 
electricity production. Coal accounts for approximately 49% of all 
U.S. electricity generation, with U.S. government projections calling 
for an increase to approximately 57% by 2030. Coal’s share 
of global electricity generation is forecast to be approximately 
45% by 2030. Major coal consumers include the People’s 
Republic of China, the United States and India. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, which require Fuel Tech to make estimates and 
assumptions. Fuel Tech believes that of its accounting policies 
(see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements), the following 
involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity and are 
deemed critical. Fuel Tech discusses its critical accounting policies 
with the Audit Committee. 

Revenue recognition
Fuel Tech uses the percentage of completion method of accounting 
for certain long-term equipment construction and license contracts 
that are sold within the NOx reduction business segment. Under 
the percentage of completion method, sales and gross profit are 
recognized as work is performed based on the relationship 
between actual construction costs incurred and total estimated 
costs at completion. Since the financial reporting of these contracts 
depends on estimates that are assessed continually during the 
term of the contract, recognized sales and profit are subject to 
revisions as the contract progresses to completion. Revisions in 
profit estimates are reflected in the period in which the facts 
that give rise to the revision become known. Provisions are made 
for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts in the period in 
which such losses are determined.

Fuel Tech’s construction contracts are typically six to twelve 
months in length. A typical contract will have three or four critical 
milestones that serve as the basis for Fuel Tech to invoice the cus-
tomer. At a minimum, the milestones will include the generation 
of engineering drawings, the shipment of equipment and the 
completion of a system performance test. 

As part of most of its contractual project agreements, Fuel 
Tech will agree to customer-specific acceptance criteria that relate 
to the operational performance of the system that is being sold to 
the customer. These criteria are determined based on mathematical 
modeling that is performed by Fuel Tech personnel, which is based 
on operational inputs that are provided by the customer. The cus-
tomer will warrant that these operational inputs are accurate as 
they are specified in the binding contractual agreement. Further, 
the customer is solely responsible for the accuracy of the operating 
condition information; all performance guarantees and equipment 
warranties granted by Fuel Tech are void if the operating condition 
information is inaccurate or is not met. 

Fuel Tech has installed over 450 units with the technology 
and has never failed to meet a performance guarantee when 
the customer has provided the required operating conditions 
for the project. As part of the project implementation process, 
Fuel Tech will perform system start-up and optimization services 
that effectively serve as a test of actual project performance. 
Fuel Tech believes that this test, combined with the accuracy of the 
modeling that is performed, enables revenue to be recognized 
prior to the receipt of formal customer acceptance. 

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Fuel Tech, in order to control and monitor the credit risk associated 
with its customer base, reviews the credit worthiness of customers 
on a recurring basis. Factors influencing the level of scrutiny include 
the level of business the customer has with Fuel Tech, the customer’s 
payment history and the customer’s financial stability. Representatives 
of Fuel Tech’s management team review all past due accounts 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

(continued)

on a weekly basis to assess collectibility. At the end of each 
reporting period, the allowance for doubtful accounts balance is 
reviewed relative to management’s collectibility assessment and 
is adjusted if deemed necessary. Fuel Tech’s historical credit loss 
has been insignificant.

Assessment of potential impairments of goodwill and intangible assets
Effective January 1, 2002, Fuel Tech adopted FASB (Financial 
Accounting Standards Board) Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and 
Other Intangible Assets.” Under the guidance of this statement, 
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are no longer 
amortized, but rather, are required to be reviewed annually or 
more frequently if indicators arise, for impairment. The evaluation 
of impairment involves comparing the current fair value of the 
business to the carrying value. Fuel Tech uses a discounted 
cash flow model (DCF) to determine the current fair value of 
its two reporting units. A number of significant assumptions and 
estimates are involved in the application of the DCF model to 
forecast operating cash flows, including markets and market share, 
sales volumes and prices, costs to produce and working capital 
changes. Management considers historical experience and all 
available information at the time the fair values of its reporting 
units are estimated. However, actual fair values that could be 
realized in an actual transaction may differ from those used to 
evaluate the impairment of goodwill.

Fuel Tech reviews other intangible assets, which include a 
customer list, a covenant not to compete and patent assets, for 
impairment on a recurring basis or when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may 
not be recoverable. In the event the sum of the expected undis-
counted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is 
less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss 
equal to the excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value 
is recorded. Management considers historical experience and all 
available information at the time the estimates of future cash 
flows are made, however, the actual cash values that could be 
realized may differ from those that are estimated.

Valuation allowance for deferred income taxes
Deferred tax assets represent deductible temporary differences 
and net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation 
allowance is recognized if it is more likely than not that some 
portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

At the end of each reporting period, Fuel Tech reviews the 
realizability of the deferred tax assets. As part of this review, 
Fuel Tech will consider if there are taxable temporary differences 
that could generate taxable income in the future, if there is the 
ability to carryback the net operating losses or credits, if there is 
a projection of future taxable income, and if there are any tax 
planning strategies which can be readily implemented.

Stock-based compensation
Fuel Tech recognizes compensation expense for employee equity 
awards ratably over the requisite service period of the award. 
Fuel Tech utilizes the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to 
estimate the fair value of awards. Determining the fair value of 
stock options using the Black-Scholes model requires judgment, 
including estimates for (1) risk-free interest rate—an estimate 
based on the yield of zero–coupon treasury securities with a 
maturity equal to the expected life of the option; (2) expected 
volatility—an estimate based on the historical volatility of Fuel 
Tech’s Common Stock for a period equal to the expected life of 
the option; and (3) expected life of the option—an estimate 
based on historical experience including the effect of employee 
terminations. If any of these assumptions differ significantly from 
actual, stock-based compensation expense could be impacted.

Recently adopted accounting standards
In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty 
in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” 
(FIN 48). FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive model for how a 
company should recognize, measure, present, and disclose in its 
financial statements uncertain tax positions that it has taken or 
expects to take on a tax return. On January 17, 2007, the FASB 
affirmed its previous decision to make FIN 48 effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2006. Accordingly, FIN 48 
was effective for Fuel Tech on January 1, 2007. 

Previously, Fuel Tech had accounted for tax contingencies in 
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 
5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” As required by FIN 48, which 
clarifies Statement 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” Fuel Tech 
recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only 
after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely 
than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions 
meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized 
in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater 
than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement 
with the relevant tax authority. At the adoption date, Fuel Tech 
applied FIN 48 to all tax positions for which the statute of limitations 
remained open. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, 
Fuel Tech recognized an increase of approximately $86,000 in 
the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, of which $81,000 was 
accounted for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007 balance of 
retained earnings.

In June 2006, the FASB ratified a consensus opinion reached 
by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) on EITF Issue 06-3, 
“How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Govern-
mental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement 
(That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation).” The guidance in EITF 
Issue 06-3 requires disclosure in interim and annual financial 
statements of the amount of taxes on a gross basis, if significant, 
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that are assessed by a governmental authority that are imposed 
on and concurrent with a specific revenue producing transaction 
between a seller and customer such as sales, use, value added, 
and some excise taxes. Additionally, the income statement pre-
sentation (gross or net) of such taxes is an accounting policy 
decision that must be disclosed. The consensus in EITF Issue 06-3 
is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2006. The Company adopted EITF Issue 06-3 
effective January 1, 2007. The Company presents sales tax on a net 
basis in its consolidated financial statements. The adoption did not 
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus reached 
by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) in EITF Issue No. 06-9, 
“Reporting a Change in (or the Elimination of) a Previously Existing 
Difference between the Fiscal Year-End of a Parent Company and 
that of a Consolidated Entity or between the Reporting Period 
of an Investor and that of an Equity Method Investee” (EITF 06-9). 
EITF 06-9 requires certain disclosures whenever a change is 
made to modify or eliminate the time lag used for recording 
results of consolidated entities or equity method investees that 
have a different fiscal year end than a parent. EITF 06-9 is 
effective for changes in the time lag occurring in the interim or 
annual reporting periods beginning after November 29, 2006. 
The adoption of EITF 06-9 did not have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.

New accounting pronouncements
In September 2006, the FASB issued Financial Accounting 
Standard No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157). SFAS 
157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring 
fair value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), 
and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 
157 applies under other accounting pronouncements that require 
or permit fair value measurements, and accordingly, does not 
require any new fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective 
for Fuel Tech beginning January 1, 2008. Fuel Tech is currently 
reviewing the provisions of SFAS 157, but does not expect 
the provisions to have a material impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Financial Accounting 
Standard No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities” (SFAS 159). SFAS 159 provides the 
option to report certain financial assets and liabilities at fair 
value, with the intent to mitigate volatility in financial reporting that 
can occur when related assets and liabilities are recorded on differ-
ent bases. This statement is effective for Fuel Tech beginning 
January 1, 2008. Fuel Tech does not expect SFAS 159 to have 
a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2007, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FIN 
48-1 (FSP FIN 48-1), which amends FASB Interpretation No. 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” FSP FIN 48-1 

provides guidance on how an enterprise should determine whether 
a tax position is effectively settled for the purpose of recognizing 
previously unrecognized tax benefits. Fuel Tech does not expect 
the provisions of FSP FIN 48-1 to have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 
2007), “Business Combinations” (SFAS 141R). SFAS 141R estab-
lishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes 
and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets 
acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the 
acquiree and the goodwill acquired. SFAS 141R also establishes 
disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature 
and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141R is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating 
the potential impact of adoption of SFAS 141R on its consolidated 
financial statements. However, the Company does not expect the 
adoption of SFAS 141R to have a material impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board “FASB” issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 160,  
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements— 
an amendment of ARB No. 51” (SFAS 160). The objective of SFAS 
160 is to improve the relevance, comparability, and transparency 
of the financial information that a reporting entity provides in 
its consolidated financial statements. SFAS 160 amends ARB 
No. 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the 
noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation 
of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 also changes the way the consolidated 
income statement is presented, establishes a single method of 
accounting for changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a 
subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation, requires that 
a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary 
is deconsolidated and expanded disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements that clearly identify and distinguish between the 
interests of the parent’s owners and the interest of the noncontrolling 
owners of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effective for financial statements 
issued for the fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 
2008. Fuel Tech does not expect the provisions to have a material 
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

2007 Versus 2006

Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were 
$80,297,000 and $75,115,000, respectively. The year over year 
increase of $5,182,000, or 7%, predominantly reflects moderate 
increases in both technology segments.

Revenues for the NOx reduction technology segment were 
$47,750,000 in 2007, an increase of $1,296,000, or 3%, over 
2006. This segment is positioned well to capitalize on the next 
phase of increasingly stringent U.S. air quality standards. With the 
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compliance for the Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) State 
Implementation Plan (SIP) Call regulation beginning to wind down, 
utilities and industrial facilities across the country are planning 
for compliance with the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) and the 
Clean Air Visibility Rule (CAVR), which take effect in 2009 and 
2013, respectively. Thousands of utility and industrial boilers will 
be impacted by these regulations and Fuel Tech’s technologies 
will serve as an important element in enabling utility and indus-
trial boiler unit owners to attain compliance. In 2007, Fuel Tech 
announced new contracts valued at $60 million, which exceeded 
the previous annual record by almost 40%.

Revenues for the Fuel Treatment Chemical business segment 
were $32,547,000 in 2007, an increase of $3,886,000, or 14%, 
over 2006. This segment’s growth is indicative of the continued 
market acceptance of Fuel Tech’s patented TIFI™ Targeted 
In-Furnace Injection™ technology, particularly on coal-fired units, 
which represent the largest market opportunity for the technology, 
both domestically and abroad. In 2007, Fuel Tech added 10 new 
coal-fired units to its customer base, the largest annual total in 
the Company’s history.

Cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 
2006 was $42,471,000 and $38,429,000, respectively. Cost 
of sales as a percentage of net sales for the years ended 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 was 53% and 51%, respectively. 
The cost of sales percentage for 2007 for the NOx reduction 
segment decreased to 54% from 57% in 2006. The decrease is 
attributable to the mix of project business. For the fuel treatment 
chemical segment, the cost of sales percentage increased to 51% 
in 2007 from 42% in 2006. The increase is due to startup costs 
related to the incremental units noted above, without the realization 
of related revenues as only two of the 10 new units contributed 
significant revenues during 2007 due to customer-related delays 
impacting the timing of startup.

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years 
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $24,950,000 and 
$23,901,000, respectively. The $1,049,000 increase over 2006 
is principally attributable to the following:

expense in 2007 in accordance with Statement 123(R), as 
discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. 
This amount was a $2,986,000 increase over 2006. This 
increase in stock compensation expense is attributable to 
the awarding of stock options to all Fuel Tech employees 
in December 2006 and to an increase in the fair value of 
the options granted, which was driven by an increase in 
the price of Fuel Tech’s Common Stock.

in revenue-related expenses of $2,100,000 as Fuel Tech 
aligned the focus of all employees under a common 
incentive plan in 2007.

Research and development expenses were $2,137,000 and 
$2,052,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. Fuel Tech has established a more focused approach 
in the pursuit of commercial applications for its technologies 
outside of its traditional markets, and in the development and 
analysis of new technologies that could represent incremental 
market opportunities.

Interest income increased by $623,000 over 2006 driven by 
higher average cash and short-term investment balances. Further, 
Fuel Tech recorded interest expense of $24,000 in 2007 related 
specifically to a short-term credit facility that was used to support 
the start-up of Fuel Tech’s new office in Beijing, China. Finally, the 
moderate increase in other income is due largely to foreign exchange 
gains related to balances denominated in foreign currencies.

For the year ended December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech recorded 
tax expense of $5,187,000, which predominantly represents 
deferred tax expense related to taxable income recognized in 2007. 
For the year ended December 31, 2006, Fuel Tech recorded tax 
expense of $4,942,000, also representing deferred tax expense 
related to taxable income.

2006 Versus 2005

Net sales for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 
were $75,115,000 and $52,928,000, respectively. The year over 
year increase of $22,187,000, or 42%, reflects an increase of 
$13,804,000 from the NOx reduction technology segment and 
an increase of $8,389,000 from the fuel treatment chemical 
technology segment.

Revenues for the NOx reduction technology segment were 
$46,454,000 in 2006, an increase of $13,804,000, or 42%, 
over 2005. The increase was driven by enhanced order flow for 
Fuel Tech’s NOx reduction technologies. Domestically, orders were 
driven by the SIP Call and CAIR regulations while, internationally, 
revenues were enhanced by two large Chinese projects that were 
awarded late in 2005 and contributed significantly to revenues 
in 2006. 

Revenues for the Fuel Treatment Chemical business segment 
were $28,661,000 in 2006, an increase of $8,389,000, or 41%, 
over 2005. The increase was driven by continued market accep-
tance of Fuel Tech’s TIFI technology, particularly on coal-fired 
units in the United States.

Cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 
2005 was $38,429,000 and $27,118,000, respectively. Cost of 
sales as a percentage of net sales for the years ended December 
31, 2006 and 2005 was 51%. The cost of sales percentage for 
2006 for the NOx reduction segment increased to 57% from 
51% in 2005. The increase is attributable to the mix of project 
business. For the fuel treatment chemical segment, the cost of 
sales percentage decreased to 42% in 2006 from 50% in 2005. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

(continued)



18

The decrease is due to the timing of revenue recognition on cost-
share demonstrations and to leveraging fixed costs on higher 
revenue-generating coal-fired utility units. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses for the years 
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were $23,901,000 and 
$17,414,000, respectively. The $6,487,000 increase over 2005 
is attributable to the following:

expense in accordance with Statement 123(R), as discussed 
in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

in the amount of $1,500,000 as both technology segments 
had significantly improved revenue growth versus the 
comparable prior-year period.

expenses of approximately $1,800,000 as staffing levels 
were increased in several areas in response to overall 
business growth.

audit, tax, consulting and recruiting fees, all in support of 
achieving business growth. Of specific note are the costs 
that were incurred to domesticate Fuel Tech.

Research and development expenses were $2,052,000 and 
$1,241,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, 
respectively. Fuel Tech has established a more focused approach 
in the pursuit of commercial applications for its technologies 
outside of its traditional markets, and in the development and 
analysis of new technologies that could represent incremental 
market opportunities.

Interest income increased by almost $800,000 year over year, 
driven by higher average cash and short-term investment balances, 
and market interest rates versus those experienced in the prior year. 
The increase in other income is due largely to foreign exchange 
gains related to balances denominated in foreign currencies.

On a full-year basis, Fuel Tech recorded tax expense of 
$4,942,000. This amount primarily represents non-cash deferred 
tax expense related to taxable income recognized in 2006.

Fuel Tech’s income tax benefit of $419,000 for 2005 
predominantly represented the recording of the reduction in the 
deferred tax asset valuation allowance representing the anticipated 
utilization of net operating loss and research and development 
tax credit carryforwards. Based on a review of both historical and 
projected taxable income, Fuel Tech concluded in 2005 that it was 
more likely than not that the net operating losses and the research 
and development tax credits would be utilized in subsequent 
periods and the valuation allowance was no longer required. 

Liquidity and Sources of Capital

At December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech had cash and cash equivalents 
and short-term investments of $32,471,000 and working capital of 
$45,143,000 versus $32,405,000 and $38,715,000 at the end 
of 2006, respectively. Operating activities provided $4,099,000 
of cash during 2007, primarily due to the favorable operating 
results of the business segments. Investing activities used cash 
of $3,713,000 during 2007, as short-term investments were 
decreased $6,002,000 while $9,715,000 was utilized to support 
and enhance the operations of the business. Of this amount, 
approximately $6,000,000 was used to purchase the future 
corporate headquarters for Fuel Tech, with the remainder used 
principally for equipment related to the fuel treatment chemical 
technology segment. Fuel Tech generated cash from financing 
activities in the amount of $5,595,000. Of this amount, $912,000 
represents proceeds derived from the exercise price of options 
exercised in 2007, while $1,482,000 represents the excess tax 
benefits realized from the exercise of stock options in 2007. Fuel 
Tech generated cash in an amount of $1,150,000 resulting from 
the issuance of directors’ deferred shares of stock. Finally, Beijing 
Fuel Tech borrowed $2,051,000 in funds to meet the short-term 
working capital needs of this new legal entity. 

Fuel Tech has a $25.0 million revolving credit facility expiring 
July 31, 2009. The facility is unsecured and bears interest at a rate 
of LIBOR plus 75 basis points. Fuel Tech can use this facility for 
cash advances and standby letters of credit. 

At December 31, 2007, the bank had provided standby 
letters of credit, predominantly to customers, totaling approxi-
mately $6,021,000 in connection with contracts in process. Fuel 
Tech is committed to reimbursing the issuing bank for any payments 
made by the bank under these letters of credit. At December 31, 
2007, there were no cash borrowings under the revolving credit 
facility and approximately $18,979,000 was available.

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental Technologies Company, Ltd. 
(Beijing Fuel Tech), a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of Fuel 
Tech, entered into a revolving credit facility agreement during 
the third quarter of 2007 for RMB 35 million (approximately $4.8 
million), which expires on July 31, 2009. The facility is unsecured 
and bears interest at a rate of 90% of the People’s Bank of China 
(PBOC) Base Rate. Beijing Fuel Tech can use this facility for cash 
advances and bank guarantees. At December 31, 2007, Beijing 
Fuel Tech had borrowings outstanding in the amount $2,051,000.

Interest payments in the amount of $24,000 were made 
during the year ended December 31, 2007, and no payments were 
made during the years ended December 31, 2006 or 2005.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

(continued)
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In the opinion of management, Fuel Tech’s expected near-term 
revenue growth will be driven by the timing of penetration of the 
coal-fired utility marketplace via utilization of its TIFI technology, 
by utility and industrial entities’ adherence to the NOx reduction 
requirements of the various domestic environmental regulations, 
and by the expansion of both business segments in non-U.S. 
geographies. Fuel Tech expects its liquidity requirements to be met 
by the operating results generated from these activities. 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

In its normal course of business, Fuel Tech enters into agreements 
that obligate Fuel Tech to make future payments. The operating 
lease obligations noted below are primarily related to supporting 
the operations of the business.

Payments due by period 
in thousands of dollars

Contractual Cash 
Obligations Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

Operating Leases $1,664 $645 $684 $241 $94

Fuel Tech has a sublease agreement that obligates the lessee 
to make future payments to Fuel Tech. The sublease obligations 
noted below are related to a sublease agreement between Fuel 
Tech and American Bailey Corporation (ABC). ABC will reimburse 
Fuel Tech for its share of lease and lease-related expenses under 
Fuel Tech’s January 29, 2004 lease of its executive offices in 
Stamford, Connecticut. Please refer to Note 9 to the consolidated 
financial statements for a discussion of the relation between Fuel 
Tech and ABC.

Rental payments due to Fuel Tech by period 
in thousands of dollars

Contractual Cash
Obligations Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

Sublease $  169 $ 81 $ 88 $— $—

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental Technologies Company, Ltd. 
(Beijing Fuel Tech), a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Fuel Tech, entered into a revolving credit facility agreement during 
the third quarter of 2007 for RMB 35 million (approximately $4.8 
million), which expires on July 31, 2009. The facility is unsecured 
and bears interest at a rate of 90% of the People’s Bank of China 
(PBOC) Base Rate. Beijing Fuel Tech can use this facility for cash 

advances and bank guarantees. At December 31, 2007, Beijing 
Fuel Tech had borrowings outstanding in the amount $2,051,000 
as noted in the table below.

Commitment expiration by period 
in thousands of dollars

Commercial 
Commitments Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

Short-term debt $2,051 $2,051 $— $— $—

Fuel Tech, in the normal course of business, uses bank 
performance guarantees and letters of credit in support of 
construction contracts with customers as follows:

defined in the contract

In addition, Fuel Tech uses letters of credit as security for 
other obligations as needed in the normal course of business. As of 
December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech has outstanding bank performance 
guarantees and letters of credit as noted in the table below: 

Commitment expiration by period 
in thousands of dollars

Commercial 
Commitments Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

Standby letters 
of credit 
and bank 
guarantees $6,021 $1,153 $4,868 $— $—

The following table summarizes Fuel Tech’s FIN 48 obliga-
tions as of December 31, 2007. Please refer to Note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this document for a descrip-
tion of our FIN 48 obligations.

Commitment expiration by period 
in thousands of dollars

Commercial 
Commitments Total

Less than 
1 year

2–3 
years

4–5 
years Thereafter

FIN 48 
Obligations $  678 $— $— $— $678

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

(continued)
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Off-Balance-Sheet Transactions

There were no off-balance-sheet transactions during the two-year 
period ended December 31, 2007.

Forward-Looking Information

From time to time, information provided by Fuel Tech, statements 
made by its employees or information included in its filings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (including this Annual 
Report) may contain statements that are not historical facts, 
so-called “forward-looking statements.” These forward-looking 
statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Fuel Tech’s actual 
future results may differ significantly from those stated in any 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve 
a number of risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited 
to, product demand, pricing, market acceptance, litigation, risk 
of dependence on significant customers, third-party suppliers 
and intellectual property rights, risks in product and technology 
development and other risk factors detailed in the text under 
the caption “Risk Factors” in Item 1 “Business” under Part I of 
this Annual Report and in Fuel Tech’s Securities and Exchange 
Commission filings.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures 
About Market Risk

Fuel Tech’s earnings and cash flow are subject to fluctuations 
due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fuel Tech does 
not enter into foreign currency forward contracts or into foreign 
currency option contracts to manage this risk due to the immaterial 
nature of the transactions involved.

Fuel Tech is also exposed to changes in interest rates primarily 
due to its long-term debt arrangement (refer to Note 8 to the 
consolidated financial statements). A hypothetical 100 basis point 
adverse move in interest rates along the entire interest rate yield 
curve would not have a materially adverse effect on interest 
expense during the upcoming year ended December 31, 2008.

Fuel Tech does not believe that the current economic environ-
ment in the United States will have a material impact on the 
results of its operations.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations

(continued)
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per-share data)

December 31

2007 2006

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 30,473 $ 24,405
Short-term investments 1,998 8,000
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $150 31,856 16,724
Inventories 186 203
Deferred income taxes 1,589 4,972
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,761 1,916

Total current assets 67,863 56,220

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $10,091 and $8,845, respectively 11,302 4,051
Goodwill 2,119 2,119
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $1,320 and $1,205, respectively 1,088 1,156
Deferred income taxes 2,552 885
Other assets 2,290 1,229

Total assets $ 87,214 $ 65,660

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt $  2,051 $       —
Accounts payable 13,632 7,632
Accrued liabilities:

  Employee compensation 2,304 4,457

  Other accrued liabilities 4,733 5,416

Total current liabilities 22,720 17,505

Other liabilities 1,255 500

Total liabilities 23,975 18,005

Shareholders’ equity:
  Common stock, $.01 par value, 40,000,000 shares authorized, 

22,410,064 and 22,086,728 shares issued, respectively 224 221
Additional paid-in capital 111,459 103,122
Accumulated deficit (48,882) (56,044)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 166 79
Nil coupon perpetual loan notes 272 277

Total shareholders’ equity 63,239 47,655

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 87,214 $ 65,660

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except share and per-share data)

For the years ended December 31

2007 2006 2005

Revenues $80,297 $75,115 $52,928
Costs and expenses:

Cost of sales 42,471 38,429 27,118
Selling, general and administrative 24,950 23,901 17,414
Research and development 2,137 2,052 1,241

69,558 64,382 45,773

Operating income 10,739 10,733 7,155

Interest expense (24) — —
Interest income 1,634 1,011 244
Other income (expense) 81 24 (230)

Income before taxes 12,430 11,768 7,169
Income tax (expense) benefit (5,187) (4,942) 419

Net income $ 7,243 $ 6,826 $ 7,588

Net income per Common Share:
Basic $  0.33 $  0.32 $  0.38
Diluted $  0.29 $  0.28 $  0.33

Weighted-average number of Common Shares outstanding:
Basic 22,280,000 21,491,000 20,043,000
Diluted 24,720,000 24,187,000 23,066,000

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
(in thousands) 

Common Stock
Shares Amount

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)

Nil Coupon 
Perpetual 

Loan Notes Total

Balance at January 1, 2005 19,530 $195 $ 88,600 $(70,458) $   86 $ 532 $18,955

Comprehensive income:
Net income 7,588 7,588

  Foreign currency translation adjustments (125) (125)

Comprehensive income 7,463
Exercise of stock options and warrants 856 9 1,221 1,230
Conversion of nil coupon perpetual loan notes into 
Common Shares 38 250 (250) —

Tax benefit from stock compensation expense 1,488 1,488

Balance at December 31, 2005 20,424 $204 $ 91,559 $(62,870) $ (39) $ 282 $29,136

Comprehensive income:
Net income 6,826 6,826

  Foreign currency translation adjustments 118 118

Comprehensive income 6,944
Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,662 17 3,809 3,826
Conversion of nil coupon perpetual 
loan notes into Common Shares 1 5 (5) —

Tax benefit from stock compensation expense 5,944 5,944
Stock compensation expense 1,805 1,805

Balance at December 31, 2006 22,087 $221 $103,122 $(56,044) $   79 $ 277 $47,655

Comprehensive income:
Net income 7,243 7,243

  Foreign currency translation adjustments 87 87

Comprehensive income 7,330
Exercise of stock options and warrants 322 3 909 912
Conversion of nil coupon perpetual loan notes into 
Common Shares 1 5 (5) —

Effect of FIN 48 adoption (81) (81)
Tax benefit from stock compensation expense 1,482 1,482
Stock compensation expense 4,791 4,791
Issuance of deferred shares of stock 1,150 1,150

Balance at December 31, 2007 22,410 $224 $111,459 $(48,882) $ 166 $ 272 $63,239

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

For the years ended December 31

2007 2006 2005

Operating Activities
Net income $     7,243 $ 6,826 $ 7,588
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 2,353 1,961 1,566
Amortization 115 118 127
Effect of FIN 48 adoption (81) — —
Provision for doubtful accounts — — 26
Loss on equipment disposals/impaired assets 18 — 32
Deferred income tax 1,716 (1,235) (2,978)
Stock compensation expense 4,791 1,805 —
Excess tax benefit for stock-based compensation — — 1,488
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

  Accounts receivable (15,132) (3,491) (5,901)
  Inventories 17 155 (47)
  Prepaid expenses, other current assets and other noncurrent assets (906) (1,046) (439)
  Accounts payable 6,000 1,139 3,788
  Accrued liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities (2,081) 1,927 6,278

Other 46 — 3

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,099 8,159 11,531

Investing Activities
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments 6,002 — —
Purchases of short-term investments — (2,000) (3,500)
Purchases of property, equipment and patents (9,715) (2,017) (2,792)

Net cash used in investing activities (3,713) (4,017) (6,292)

Financing Activities
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 2,051 — —
Issuance of deferred shares 1,150 — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 912 3,826 1,230
Excess tax benefit for stock-based compensation 1,482 5,944 —

Net cash provided by financing activities 5,595 9,770 1,230

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash 87 118 (125)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 6,068 14,030 6,344
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 24,405 10,375 4,031

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 30,473 $24,405 $10,375

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for:

  Interest $     24 $      — $      —
  Income taxes paid $    173 $   217 $   326

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization
Fuel Tech, Inc. (“Fuel Tech”) is a company that provides advanced 
engineering solutions for the optimization of combustion systems 
in utility and industrial applications. Fuel Tech’s primary focus is 
on the worldwide marketing and sale of its NOxOUT® Process and 
related technologies as well as its FUEL CHEM® fuel treatment 
chemical product line. The NOxOUT Process reduces nitrogen oxide 
(“NOx”) emissions from boilers, furnaces and other stationary 
combustion sources. Fuel Tech’s FUEL CHEM program is based on 
proprietary TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ technology in the 
unique application of specialty chemicals to improve the perfor-
mance of combustion units. Fuel Tech’s business is materially 
dependent on the continued existence and enforcement of air 
quality regulations, particularly in the United States. Fuel Tech has 
expended significant resources in the research and development 
of new technologies in building its proprietary portfolio of air 
pollution control, fuel treatment chemicals, computer modeling 
and advanced visualization technologies. 

International revenues were $12.8 million, $17.5 million 
and $11.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2007, 
2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts represented 16%, 
23% and 21% of Fuel Tech’s total revenues for the respective 
periods of time. Foreign currency changes did not have a material 
impact on the calculation of these percentages. Fuel Tech has 
foreign offices in Beijing, China and in Galarate, Italy.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Fuel 
Tech and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany trans-
actions have been eliminated. 

Originally incorporated in 1987 under the laws of the Netherlands 
Antilles as Fuel-Tech N.V., effective September 30, 2006, Fuel 
Tech changed its place of incorporation from the Netherlands 
Antilles to the State of Delaware in a tax-free reorganization. In the 
reorganization, each outstanding share of Fuel-Tech N.V. Common 
Stock held by our stockholders was converted into one share 
of Fuel Tech, Inc. Common Stock. The shares exchanged were all 
of Fuel Tech, Inc.’s issued and outstanding shares immediately 
after the reorganization. The number of shares of Fuel Tech, Inc.’s 
Common Stock outstanding immediately after the reorganization was 
the same as the number of shares of Fuel-Tech N.V. Common Stock 
outstanding immediately prior to the reorganization. In connection 
with this reorganization, all option agreements and warrant rights 
to purchase shares of Fuel-Tech N.V. Common Stock were converted 
into option agreements and warrant rights to purchase shares of 
Fuel Tech, Inc. Common Stock. 

In addition to the reorganization, Fuel Tech, Inc. adopted a 
tax-free plan of merger whereby two of Fuel Tech, Inc.’s wholly 
owned United States subsidiaries were merged with and into 
Fuel Tech, Inc. as of December 31, 2006. 

In November 2006, the FASB ratified the consensus reached 
by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) in EITF Issue No. 06-9, 
“Reporting a Change in (or the Elimination of) a Previously Existing 
Difference between the Fiscal Year-End of a Parent Company and 
that of a Consolidated Entity or between the Reporting Period of 
an Investor and that of an Equity Method Investee” (EITF 06-9). 
EITF 06-9 requires certain disclosures whenever a change is 
made to modify or eliminate the time lag used for recording results 
of consolidated entities or equity method investees that have a 
different fiscal year end than a parent. EITF 06-9 is effective 
for changes in the time lag occurring in the interim or annual 
reporting periods beginning after November 29, 2006. The 
adoption of EITF 06-9 did not have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with 
generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities are reasonable estimates of their fair value due to 
their short-term nature. The carrying amount of the Company’s 
short-term debt, revolving line of credit and notes approximate 
fair value because the majority of the amounts outstanding accrue 
interest at variable rates.

Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
Fuel Tech includes cash and investments having an original maturity 
of three months or less at the time of acquisition in cash and cash 
equivalents. Short-term investments consist of highly-liquid invest-
ments having an original maturity of greater than three months 
which are recorded at cost, and have been classified as available for 
sale securities. Fuel Tech has never incurred realized or unrealized 
holding gains or losses on these securities. Income resulting from 
short-term investments is recorded as interest income.

At December 31, 2007, substantially all of Fuel Tech’s cash, 
cash equivalents and short-term investments are on deposit with 
three financial institutions.
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Foreign Currency Risk Management
Fuel Tech’s earnings and cash flow are subject to fluctuations 
due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Fuel Tech 
does not enter into foreign currency forward contracts or into 
foreign currency option contracts to manage this risk due to the 
immaterial nature of the transactions involved.

Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable includes unbilled receivables, representing 
costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncom-
pleted contracts under the percentage of completion method. 
At December 31, 2007 and 2006, unbilled receivables were 
approximately $16,813,000 and $3,615,000, respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Fuel Tech, in order to control and monitor the credit risk associated 
with its customer base, reviews the credit worthiness of custom-
ers on a recurring basis. Factors influencing the level of scrutiny 
include the level of business the customer has with Fuel Tech, 
the customer’s payment history and the customer’s financial 
stability. Representatives of Fuel Tech’s management team review 
all past due accounts on a weekly basis to assess collectibility. 
At the end of each reporting period, the allowance for doubtful 
accounts balance is reviewed relative to management’s collectibility 
assessment and is adjusted if deemed necessary.

Translation of Foreign Currency
Assets and liabilities of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are 
translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at year-end. 
Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange 
rates prevailing during the year. Gains or losses on foreign currency 
transactions and the related tax effects are reflected in net income. 
The resulting translation adjustments are included in stockholders’ 
equity as part of accumulated comprehensive income. 

Comprehensive Income
Other comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity 
resulting from transactions from non-owner sources. Comprehensive 
income differs from net income due to the effects of foreign 
currency translation.

Research and Development
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 
Research and development units funded by contracts are reported 
as part of cost of goods sold. Internally funded research and 
development expenses are reported as operating expenses.

Product/System Warranty
Fuel Tech warrants its pollution control products/systems against 
defects in design, materials, and workmanship generally for 
one to two years. A provision for estimated future costs relating 
to warranty expense is recorded when the products/systems 
become commercially operational.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles
Fuel Tech follows Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under 
the guidance of this statement, goodwill and indefinite-lived 
intangible assets are required to be reviewed annually, or more 
frequently if indicators arise, for impairment. The evaluation of 
impairment involves comparing the current fair value of the 
business to the recorded value. Fuel Tech uses a discounted 
cash flow model (DCF) to determine the current fair value of 
its reporting units. A number of significant assumptions and esti-
mates are involved in the application of the DCF model to forecast 
operating cash flows, including markets and market share, sales 
volumes and prices, costs to produce and working capital changes. 
Management considers historical experience and all available 
information at the time the fair values of its reporting units are 
estimated. However, actual fair values that could be realized in 
an actual transaction may differ from those used to evaluate the 
impairment of goodwill.

Fuel Tech allocates goodwill to reporting units based on the 
relative excess of fair value over carrying value of the reporting units. 
Fair value is determined as noted above. The ratio of each reporting 
unit’s excess of fair value over carrying value, to the total excess of 
fair value over carrying value, is used as the basis for the allocation 
of the goodwill balance. Fuel Tech’s annual fair value measurement 
test revealed no indications of impairment.

Included with other intangible assets on the consolidated 
balance sheet are third-party costs related to the development of 
patents. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the net patent asset 
balance was $199,000 and $172,000, respectively. The third-party 
costs capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 
2006 were $53,000 and $50,000, respectively. Third-party costs 
are comprised of legal fees that relate to the review and preparation 
of patent disclosures and filing fees incurred to present the patents 
to the required governing body.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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Fuel Tech’s intellectual property has been the primary building 
block for the NOx reduction and fuel treatment chemical technology 
segments. The patents are essential to the generation of revenue for 
Fuel Tech’s businesses and are essential to protect Fuel Tech from 
competition in the markets in which it serves. These costs are being 
amortized on the straight-line method over a period of 10 years 
from the date of patent issuance. Patent maintenance fees are 
charged to operations as incurred. 

Fuel Tech reviews other intangible assets, which include a 
customer list, a covenant not to compete and patent assets, for 
impairment on a recurring basis or when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not 
be recoverable. In the event the sum of the expected undiscounted 
future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset is less than 
the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss equal to the 
excess of the asset’s carrying value over its fair value is recorded. 
Management considers historical experience and all available infor-
mation at the time the estimates of future cash flows are made, 
however, the actual cash values that could be realized may differ 
from those that are estimated. Fuel Tech recorded an impairment 
loss of $7,000 in 2007. For the years ended December 31, 2006 
and 2005 the impact of impairment losses was zero and $30,000, 
respectively. Such amounts are recorded in the “Research and 
development” line item in the consolidated statements of income.

The table below shows the amortization period and other 
intangible asset cost by intangible asset as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006, and the accumulated amortization and net intangible 
asset value in total for all other intangible assets (in thousands). 

Description of Amortization
Other Intangible Period 2007 2006

Customer list 15 years $1,198 $1,198
Patent asset 10 years 1,110 1,063
Covenant not to compete 6 years 100 100

Total cost $2,408 $2,361
Less accumulated amortization 1,320 1,205

Total net intangible asset value $1,088 $1,156

The estimated amortization expense related to Fuel Tech’s 
intangible assets is expected to approximate $120,000 per year for 
the two-year period ending December 31, 2009, and $100,000 
per year for the three-year period ending December 31, 2012.

Property and Equipment
Equipment is stated at historical cost. Provisions for depreciation 
are computed by the straight-line method, using estimated useful 
lives. The table below shows the depreciable life and cost by asset 
class as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the accumulated 
depreciation and net book value in total for all classes of assets 
(in thousands).

Description of Property 
and Equipment

Depreciable 
Life

2007
Cost

2006 
Cost

Land $ 1,440 $ —
Building 39 years 4,857 —
Field equipment 3–4 years 10,405 8,365
Computer equipment 
and software 2–3 years 2,996 2,857

Furniture and fixtures 3–10 years 1,673 1,652
Vehicles 3 years 22 22

Total cost $21,393 $12,896
Less accumulated 
depreciation 10,091 8,845

Total net book value $11,302 $ 4,051

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from the sales of chemical products are recorded when 
title transfers, either at the point of shipment or at the point of 
destination, depending on the contract with the customer.

Fuel Tech uses the percentage of completion method of 
accounting for certain long-term equipment construction and license 
contracts. Under the percentage of completion method, sales and 
gross profit are recognized as work is performed based on the 
relationship between actual construction costs incurred and total 
estimated costs at completion. Sales and gross profit are adjusted for 
revisions in completion estimates and contract values in the period 
in which the facts giving rise to the revisions become known. 

In June 2006, the FASB ratified a consensus opinion 
reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) on EITF Issue 
06-3, “How Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to 
Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income 
Statement (That Is, Gross versus Net Presentation).” The guidance 
in EITF Issue 06-3 requires disclosure in interim and annual 
financial statements of the amount of taxes on a gross basis, if 
significant, that are assessed by a governmental authority that 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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are imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue producing 
transaction between a seller and customer such as sales, use, value 
added, and some excise taxes. Additionally, the income statement 
presentation (gross or net) of such taxes is an accounting policy 
decision that must be disclosed. The consensus in EITF Issue 
06-3 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2006. The Company adopted EITF Issue 06-3 
effective January 1, 2007. The Company presents sales tax on a net 
basis in its consolidated financial statements. The adoption did not 
have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Distribution Costs
Fuel Tech classifies shipping and handling costs in cost of sales 
in the consolidated statement of income.

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the 
differences between the financial statement and tax bases of 
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year 
in which the differences are expected to reverse. 

At the end of each reporting period, for financial statement 
purposes, Fuel Tech reviews the realizability of the deferred tax 
assets. As part of this review, Fuel Tech will consider if there 
are taxable temporary differences that could generate taxable 
income in the future, if there is the ability to carryback the net 
operating losses or credits, if there is a projection of future taxable 
income, and if there are any tax planning strategies that can be 
readily implemented.

Stock-Based Compensation
Fuel Tech has a stock-based employee compensation plan, 
referred to as the Fuel Tech, Inc. Incentive Plan (Incentive Plan), 
under which awards may be granted to participants in the form 
of Non-Qualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock 
Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Performance Awards, Bonuses 
or other forms of share-based or non-share-based awards or 
combinations thereof. Participants in the Incentive Plan may be 
Fuel Tech’s directors, officers, employees, consultants or advisors 
(except consultants or advisors in capital-raising transactions) as 
the directors determine are key to the success of Fuel Tech’s 
business. The amount of shares that may be issued or reserved 
for awards to participants under a 2004 amendment to the 
Incentive Plan is 12.5% of outstanding shares calculated on a 
diluted basis. In 2007, 2006 and 2005, 311,000, 1,094,000, 
and 557,000 options, respectively, were granted to employees 
and directors. At December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech has 845,000 
stock options available for issuance under the Incentive Plan.

Prior to January 1, 2006, Fuel Tech accounted for the stock 
options granted under the Incentive Plan under the recognition 
and measurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting 
for Stock Issued to Employees” (Opinion 25) and related Interpre-
tations, as permitted by FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting 
for Stock-Based Compensation” (Statement 123). No stock-based 
employee compensation cost was recognized in Fuel Tech’s 
historical Statements of Income prior to January 1, 2006 as all 
options granted under the Incentive Plan had an exercise price 
equal to the market value of the underlying Common Stock on 
the date of grant.

Effective January 1, 2006, Fuel Tech adopted the fair value 
recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123(R), “Share-Based 
Payment” (Statement 123(R)) using the modified-prospective 
transition method. Under that transition method, compensation 
cost recognized for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes: 
(a) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, 
but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date 
fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of 
Statement 123, and (b) compensation cost for all share-based 
payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the 
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions 
of Statement 123(R). Accordingly, results for prior periods have 
not been restated.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Common Share
Basic earnings per share excludes the dilutive effects of stock 
options and warrants and of the nil coupon non-redeemable con-
vertible unsecured loan notes (see Note 5). Diluted earnings per 
share includes the dilutive effect of the nil coupon non-redeemable 
convertible unsecured loan notes and of stock options and warrants. 
The following table sets forth the weighted-average shares used at 
December 31 in calculating earnings per share (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005

Basic weighted-average shares 22,280 21,491 20,043
Conversion of unsecured 
loan notes 45 46 59

Unexercised options 
and warrants 2,395 2,650 2,964

Diluted weighted-average shares 24,720 24,187 23,066
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New Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, the FASB issued Financial Accounting 
Standard No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS 157). SFAS 
157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair 
value in generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), and 
expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 
applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or 
permit fair value measurements, and accordingly, does not require 
any new fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for Fuel 
Tech beginning January 1, 2008. Fuel Tech is currently reviewing 
the provisions of SFAS 157, but does not expect the provisions to 
have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Financial Accounting 
Standard No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities” (SFAS 159). SFAS 159 provides the 
option to report certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value, 
with the intent to mitigate volatility in financial reporting that can 
occur when related assets and liabilities are recorded on different 
bases. This statement is effective for Fuel Tech beginning January 
1, 2008. Fuel Tech does not expect SFAS 159 to have a material 
impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

In May 2007, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FIN 48-1 
(FSP FIN 48-1), which amends FASB Interpretation No. 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” FSP FIN 48-1 pro-
vides guidance on how an enterprise should determine whether 
a tax position is effectively settled for the purpose of recognizing 
previously unrecognized tax benefits. Fuel Tech does not expect 
the provisions of FSP FIN 48-1 to have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 
2007), “Business Combinations” (SFAS 141R). SFAS 141R estab-
lishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes 
and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets 
acquired, the liabilities assumed, any noncontrolling interest in the 
acquiree and the goodwill acquired. SFAS 141R also establishes 
disclosure requirements to enable the evaluation of the nature 
and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141R is 
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the 
potential impact of adoption of SFAS 141R on its consolidated 
financial statements. However, the Company does not expect 
the adoption of SFAS 141R to have a material impact on its 
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 160, 
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements— 
an amendment of ARB No. 51” (SFAS 160). The objective of SFAS 
160 is to improve the relevance, comparability, and transparency of 
the financial information that a reporting entity provides in its 
consolidated financial statements. SFAS 160 amends ARB No. 51 to 
establish accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling 
interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. 
SFAS 160 also changes the way the consolidated income statement 
is presented, establishes a single method of accounting for 
changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do 
not result in deconsolidation, requires that a parent recognize a 
gain or loss in net income when a subsidiary is deconsolidated 
and expanded disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
that clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the 
parent’s owners and the interest of the noncontrolling owners of 
a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effective for financial statements issued 
for the fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008. 
Fuel Tech does not expect the provisions to have a material 
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

2. Construction Contracts in Progress

The status of contracts in progress as of December 31, 2007 
and 2006 is as follows (in thousands):

2007 2006

Costs incurred on 
uncompleted contracts $17,050 $18,696

Estimated earnings 15,247 13,810

Earned revenue 32,296 32,506
Less billings to date 16,303 31,524

Total $15,993 $   982

Classified as follows:
  Costs and estimated earnings 

in excess of billings on 
uncompleted contracts $16,813 $ 3,615

  Billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings on 
uncompleted contracts (821) (2,633)

Total $15,993 $   982
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Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncom-
pleted contracts are included in accounts receivable on the 
consolidated balance sheet, while billings in excess of costs and 
estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts are included in 
other accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Fuel Tech had no con-
struction contracts in progress that were identified as loss contracts. 

3. Taxation

The components of income (loss) before taxes for the years ended 
December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

Origin of income (loss) 
before taxes 2007 2006 2005

United States $13,242 $13,279 $ 7,823
Foreign (812) (1,511) (654)

Income before taxes $12,430 $11,768 $ 7,169

Significant components of the income tax benefit for the 
years ended December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005

Current:
Federal $ 1,401 $   144 $ 582
State 588 29 455
Other — 60 34

Total current 1,989 233 1,071
Deferred:

Federal 3,183 4,314 2,179
State 15 180 630

  Change in valuation 
allowance — 215 (4,299)

Total deferred 3,198 4,709 (1,490)

Income tax expense (benefit) $ 5,187 $ 4,942 $    (419)

A reconciliation between the provision for income taxes 
calculated at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate and 
the consolidated income tax benefit in the consolidated state-
ments of income for the years ended December 31 is as follows 
(in thousands):

2007 2006 2005

Provision at the U.S. federal 
statutory rate $4,351 $4,119 $ 2,509

State taxes, net of 
federal benefit 405 187 369

Foreign losses without 
tax benefit 284 588 263

Research credits (63) (229) (339)
Other 210 62 1,078
Valuation allowance adjustment — 215 (4,299)

Income tax expense (benefit) $5,187 $4,942 $  (419)

The table below depicts the data above on a percentage basis: 

2007 2006 2005

Provision at the U.S. federal 
statutory rate 35.0 % 35.0 % 35.0 %

State taxes, net of 
federal benefit 3.3 % 1.6 % 5.1 %

Foreign losses without 
tax benefit 2.3 % 5.0 % 3.7 %

Research credits (.5)% (1.9)% (4.7)%
Other 1.6 % .5 % 15.1 %
Valuation allowance adjustment — % 1.8 % (60.0)%

Income tax expense (benefit) 41.7 % 42.0 % (5.8)%
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The deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are 
as follows (in thousands): 

2007 2006

Deferred tax assets:
  Stock compensation expense $2,306 $ 526
  Research and development credit 1,302 2,296
  Equipment 648 379
  Alternative minimum tax credit 275 284
  Warranty reserve 176 180
  Accounts receivable 57 57
  Vacation accrual 40 33
  Deferred rent liability 33 37
  Effect of FIN 48 adoption 7 —
  Net operating loss carryforwards — 2,116
  Accrued liability for compensation — 537
  Charitable contribution — 14
  Research and development asset — 9

Total deferred tax assets 4,844 6,468

Deferred tax liabilities:
  Patents (76) (65)

Goodwill (367) (286)

Total deferred tax liabilities (443) (351)

Net deferred tax asset 
before valuation allowance $4,401 $6,117

Valuation allowances 
for deferred tax assets (260) (260)

Net deferred tax asset $4,141 $5,857

Net deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded within the 
consolidated balance sheets as follows (in thousands):

Current assets $1,589 $4,972
Long-term assets 2,552 885

Net deferred tax asset $4,141 $5,857

For the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, Fuel 
Tech recorded tax benefits from the exercise of stock options in 
the amounts of $1,482,000 and $5,944,000, respectively. The 
amounts were recorded as an increase in additional paid-in capi-
tal on the consolidated balance sheets and as cash from financing 
activities on the consolidated statements of cash flows. Fuel 
Tech recorded tax benefits from the exercise of stock options in 
the amount of $1,488,000 for the year ended December 31, 
2005. This amount was recorded as an increase in additional 
paid-in capital on the consolidated balance sheet and as cash 
from operating activities on the consolidated statement of cash 
flows. With Fuel Tech’s adoption of Statement 123(R) on January 
1, 2006, all subsequent tax benefits from the exercise of stock 
options were recorded as cash flows from financing activities. 

Fuel Tech’s income tax benefit of $419,000 for 2005 
predominantly represents the recording of the reduction in the 
deferred tax asset valuation allowance representing the anticipated 
utilization of net operating loss and research and development 
tax credit carryforwards. Based on a review of both historical and 
projected taxable income, Fuel Tech concluded that it was more 
likely than not that the net operating losses and the research and 
development tax credits would be utilized in subsequent periods 
and the valuation allowance was no longer required.

State and Federal Tax payments during the years ended 
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $173,000, $217,000 
and $326,000, respectively.

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement 
No. 109” (FIN 48). FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive model 
for how a company should recognize, measure, present, and 
disclose in its financial statements uncertain tax positions that it 
has taken or expects to take on a tax return. On January 17, 
2007, the FASB affirmed its previous decision to make FIN 48 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. 
Accordingly, Fuel Tech adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on 
January 1, 2007. 

Previously, Fuel Tech had accounted for tax contingencies in 
accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 
5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” As required by FIN 48, which 
clarifies Statement 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” Fuel Tech 
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recognizes the financial statement benefit of a tax position only 
after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely 
than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions 
meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the amount recognized in 
the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 
50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the 
relevant tax authority. At the adoption date, Fuel Tech applied FIN 
48 to all tax positions for which the statute of limitations remained 
open. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, Fuel Tech recog-
nized an increase of approximately $86,000 in the liability for 
unrecognized tax benefits, of which $81,000 was accounted for as 
a reduction to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings.

The following table summarizes Fuel Tech’s unrecognized 
tax benefit activity during 2007 (in thousands):

Description Balance

Balance at January 1, 2007 $744
Increases in positions taken in a prior period —
Decreases in positions taken in a prior period —
Increases in positions taken in a current period 24
Decreases in positions taken in a current period —
Decreases due to settlements (35)
Decreases due to lapse of statute of limitations (55)

Balance at December 31, 2007 $678

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 
2007 was $703,000. This amount included $685,000 of unrecog-
nized tax benefits which, if ultimately recognized, will reduce Fuel 
Tech’s annual effective tax rate. 

Fuel Tech is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal 
jurisdiction, and various states and foreign jurisdictions. Tax 
regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpreta-
tion of the related tax laws and regulations and require significant 
judgment to apply. With few exceptions, Fuel Tech is no longer 
subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax 
examinations by tax authorities for the years before 2004.

Fuel Tech recognizes interest and penalties accrued related 
to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense for all periods 
presented. Fuel Tech had accrued approximately $25,000 for the 
payment of interest and penalties at December 31, 2007. 

The management of Fuel Tech periodically estimates the 
probable tax obligations of the Company using historical experience 
in tax jurisdictions and informed judgments. There are inherent 
uncertainties related to the interpretation of tax regulations in the 
jurisdictions in which Fuel Tech transacts business. The judgments 
and estimates made at a point in time may change based on the 
outcome of tax audits, as well as changes to or further interpreta-
tions of regulations. If such changes take place, there is a risk that 
the tax rate may increase or decrease in any period. Tax accruals for 
tax liabilities related to potential changes in judgments and estimates 
for both federal and state tax issues are included in current liabilities 
on the consolidated balance sheet.

At December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech has tax losses in the amount 
of $2,902,000 available to offset foreign income. The foreign loss 
carryforwards begin to expire in 2008 and at December 31, 2007 
a full valuation allowance is recorded against this amount.

4. Common Shares

At December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech had 22,410,064 Common Shares 
issued, with an additional 44,787 shares reserved for issuance 
upon conversion of the nil coupon non-redeemable convertible 
unsecured loan notes (see Note 5) and 2,464,325 shares reserved 
for issuance upon the exercise of stock options, 955,825 of 
which are currently exercisable (see Note 6).

5. Nil Coupon Non-Redeemable Convertible 
Unsecured Loan Notes

At December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, Fuel Tech 
had $272,000, $277,000 and $282,000 principal amount of nil 
coupon non-redeemable convertible unsecured perpetual loan notes 
(the “Loan Notes”) outstanding. The Loan Notes are convertible at 
any time into Common Shares at rates of $6.50 or $11.43 per share. 
The Loan Notes bear no interest and have no maturity date. They 
are generally repayable only in the event of Fuel Tech’s dissolution 
and, accordingly, have been classified within shareholders’ equity 
in the accompanying balance sheet. 

In 2007, Loan Notes in the principal amount of $5,000 were 
converted into 769 Common Shares. Also in 2006, Loan Notes in 
the principal amount of $5,000 were converted into 769 Common 
Shares, while in 2005 Loan Notes in the principal amount of 
$250,000 were converted into 38,461 Common Shares.
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6. Stock-Based Compensation and Warrants

Fuel Tech has a stock-based employee compensation plan, referred 
to as the Fuel Tech, Inc. Incentive Plan (Incentive Plan), under which 
awards may be granted to participants in the form of Non-Qualified 
Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, 
Restricted Stock, Performance Awards, Bonuses or other forms of 
share-based or non-share-based awards or combinations thereof. 
Participants in the Incentive Plan may be Fuel Tech’s directors, 
officers, employees, consultants or advisors (except consultants or 
advisors in capital-raising transactions) as the directors determine 
are key to the success of Fuel Tech’s business. The amount of 
shares that may be issued or reserved for awards to participants 
under a 2004 amendment to the Incentive Plan is 12.5% of 
outstanding shares calculated on a diluted basis. In 2007, 2006 
and 2005, 311,000, 1,094,000 and 557,000 options, respectively, 
were granted to employees and directors. At December 31, 2007, 
Fuel Tech has 845,000 stock options available for issuance 
under the Incentive Plan.

Fuel Tech recorded stock-based compensation expense of 
$4,791,000 ($3,105,000 after tax) for the year ended December 
31, 2007. Fuel Tech recorded $1,805,000 ($1,268,000 after 
tax) in stock-based compensation expense for the comparable 
period in 2006.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and 
income per share if Fuel Tech had applied the fair value recognition 
provisions of Statement 123(R) to options granted under Fuel 
Tech’s stock option plans for 2005. For purposes of this pro forma 
disclosure, as noted above, the value of the options is estimated 
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model (in thousands).

For the year ended 2005

Net income as reported $7,588
Deduct:
  Total stock-based compensation expense 

determined under fair value based method 
for all awards, net of related tax effects 952

Pro forma net income $6,636

Basic and diluted income per share:
Basic—as reported $ .38
Basic—pro forma $ .33
Diluted—as reported $ .33
Diluted—pro forma $ .29

As of December 31, 2007, there was $11.1 million of total 
unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested share-based 
compensation arrangements granted under the 1993 Plan. That 
cost is expected to be recognized over a period of four years.

The awards granted under the 1993 Plan have a 10-year 
life and they vest as follows: 50% after the second anniversary 
of the award date, 25% after the third anniversary and the final 
25% after the fourth anniversary of the award date. Fuel Tech 
calculates stock compensation expense based on the grant-date 
fair value of the award and recognizes expense on a straight-line 
basis over the four-year service period of the award.

Prior to January 1, 2006, Fuel Tech used the Black-Scholes 
option-pricing model to estimate the fair value of employee stock 
options for the required pro forma disclosure under Statement 123. 
This model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of 
traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully trans-
ferable. With the adoption of Statement 123(R) as of January 1, 
2006, Fuel Tech has continued to use the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model to estimate the fair value of stock option grants. 

The principal variable assumptions utilized in valuing options 
and the methodology for estimating such model inputs include: 
(1) risk-free interest rate—an estimate based on the yield of 
zero–coupon treasury securities with a maturity equal to the 
expected life of the option; (2) expected volatility—an estimate 
based on the historical volatility of Fuel Tech’s Common Stock for 
a period equal to the expected life of the option; and (3) expected 
life of the option—an estimate based on historical experience 
including the effect of employee terminations.

Based on the results of the model, the weighted-average 
fair value of the stock options granted during the 12-month 
periods ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively was $14.01, $12.53 and $3.35 per share using the 
following assumptions:

2007 2006 2005

Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate 4.39% 4.64% 4.38%
Expected volatility 57.4% 60.7% 48.0%
Expected life of option 5.2 years 5.2 years 4.0 years
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The following table presents a summary of Fuel Tech’s stock option activity and related information for the years ended 
December 31:

2007 2006 2005

Number
of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price
Number 

of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price
Number 

of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 2,414,200 $13.02 2,799,000 $ 4.29 2,810,000 $3.24
Granted 310,500 25.80 1,094,000 22.06 557,000 7.84
Exercised (188,875) 4.83 (1,332,925) 2.88 (529,250) 2.32
Expired or forfeited (71,500) 20.82 (145,875) 5.91 (38,750) 5.97

Outstanding at end of year 2,464,325 $15.03 2,414,200 $13.02 2,799,000 $4.29

Exercisable at end of year 955,825 $ 7.11 711,450 $ 5.22 1,687,375 $2.87
Weighted-average fair value of options 
granted during the year $14.01 $12.53 $3.35

The following table provides additional information regarding Fuel Tech’s stock option activity for the 12 months ended 
December 31, 2007:

Number 
of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Term

Aggregate 
Intrinsic Value

Outstanding on January 1, 2007 2,414,200 $13.02
Granted 310,500 25.80
Exercised (188,875) 4.83 $ 4,367,000
Expired or forfeited (71,500) 20.82

Outstanding on December 31, 2007 2,464,325 $15.03 7.70 years $21,719,000

Exercisable on December 31, 2007 955,825 $ 7.11 6.14 years $14,998,000
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during 2007 $14.01
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2007:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of 
Exercise Prices

Number 
of Options

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual Life

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price
Number 

of Options 

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price

$ 2.76–$ 5.51 608,575 5.31 years $ 3.86 524,575 $ 3.72
$ 5.52–$11.03 520,250 7.30 years $ 7.72 311,250 $ 7.43
$11.04–$22.06 290,000 8.29 years $ 13.89 60,000 $15.95
$22.07–$27.57 1,045,500 9.12 years $ 25.56 60,000 $26.26

$ 2.76–$27.57 2,464,325 7.70 years $ 15.03 955,825 $ 7.11

The weighted-average exercise price per nonvested stock 
award at grant date was $25.69 per share for the nonvested stock 
awards granted in 2007. Nonvested stock award activity for all plans 
for the 12 months ended December 31, 2007 was as follows:

Nonvested 
Stock 

Outstanding

Weighted-
Average 

Grant-Date 
Fair Value

Outstanding on January 1, 2007 1,702,750 $ 8.90
Granted 310,500 14.01
Released (433,250) 4.47
Expired or forfeited (71,500) 11.75

Outstanding on December 31, 2007 1,508,500 $11.08

At December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech had 104,500 stock options 
with an exercise price of $27.57 per share that were not dilutive 
for the purpose of inclusion in the calculation of diluted earnings 
per share.

On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued Staff Position 
No. 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting for Tax 
Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards,” or Staff Position 123(R)-3. 
Fuel Tech has elected to adopt the alternative transition method 
provided in Staff Position 123(R)-3 for calculating the tax effects 
of stock-based compensation pursuant to Statement 123(R). The 

alternative transition method simplifies the calculation of the 
beginning balance of the additional paid-in-capital pool, or APIC 
pool, related to the tax effect of employee stock-based compen-
sation. This method also has subsequent impact on the APIC pool 
and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows relating 
to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation awards 
that are outstanding upon adoption of Statement 123(R).

In addition to the Incentive Plan, Fuel Tech has a Deferred 
Compensation Plan for Directors (Deferred Plan). This Deferred Plan, 
as originally approved, provided for deferral of directors’ fees in 
the form of either cash with interest or as “phantom stock” units, 
in either case, however, to be paid out only as cash and not as 
stock at the elected time of payout. In the second quarter of 2007, 
Fuel Tech obtained stockholder approval for an amendment to the 
Deferred Plan to provide that instead of phantom stock units paid 
out only in cash, the deferred stock unit compensation may be paid 
out in shares of Fuel Tech Common Stock. Under the guidance 
of Statement 123(R), this plan modification required that Fuel 
Tech account for awards under the plan for the receipt of Fuel 
Tech Common Stock, as equity awards as opposed to liability 
awards. In 2007, Fuel Tech recorded a credit of $1,150,000 to 
additional paid-in capital representing the fair value of the stock 
awards granted. Of this amount, $150,000 represented stock-based 
compensation expense incurred in 2007.

In addition to the above, Fuel Tech has 1,601,043 warrants 
outstanding to purchase Common Shares at an exercise price of 
$1.75. The warrants expire on April 30, 2008.
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7. Commitments

Operating Leases
Fuel Tech leases office space, autos and certain equipment 
under agreements expiring on various dates through 2014. Future 
minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating leases 
that have initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year as 
of December 31, 2007 are as follows (in thousands):

Year of Payment Amount

2008 $645
2009 535
2010 149
2011 123
2012 118
Thereafter 94

For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 
2005, rent expense approximated $852,000, $829,000 and 
$778,000, respectively.

Fuel Tech has a sublease agreement that obligates the lessee 
to make future payments. The sublease obligations noted below 
are related to a sublease agreement between Fuel Tech and 
American Bailey Corporation (ABC). ABC will reimburse Fuel Tech 
for its share of lease and lease-related expenses under Fuel Tech’s 
January 29, 2004 lease of its executive offices in Stamford, 
Connecticut. Please refer to Note 9 to the consolidated financial 
statements for a discussion of the relationship between Fuel 
Tech and ABC. The future minimum lease income under this 
noncancellable sublease as of December 31, 2007 is as follows 
(in thousands):

Year of Payment Amount

2008 $ 81
2009 81
2010 7
2011 —
2012 —
Thereafter —

The terms of the three primary lease arrangements are 
as follows:

1999 to May 31, 2009. Fuel Tech has the option to extend 
the lease term for two successive terms of five years each 
at market rates to be agreed upon between Fuel Tech and 
the lessor. 

February 1, 2004 to January 31, 2010. Fuel Tech has the 
option to extend the lease term for one successive term of 
five years at a market rate to be agreed upon between 
Fuel Tech and the lessor. Fuel Tech was provided with a 
10-month “free rent” period under this lease, and the 
total minimum lease payments are being amortized over 
the lease term. The deferred rent liability is $138,000 at 
December 31, 2007, of which $20,000 and $118,000 are 
recorded in current “Other accrued liabilities” and long-term 
“Other liabilities,” respectively, on the consolidated balance 
sheet. Under the sublease noted above, ABC was also 
provided with a 10-month “free rent” period, and the 
total minimum lease rentals are also being amortized over 
the lease term. The deferred rent receivable is $52,000 at 
December 31, 2007, of which $8,000 and $44,000 are 
recorded in current “Prepaid expenses and other current 
assets” and long-term “Other assets,” respectively, on the 
consolidated balance sheet.

1, 2007 to August 31, 2009. Fuel Tech has the option to 
extend the lease term at a market rate to be agreed upon 
between Fuel Tech and the lessor.

Performance Guarantees
The majority of Fuel Tech’s long-term equipment construction 
contracts contain language guaranteeing that the performance of 
the system that is being sold to the customer will meet specific 
criteria. On occasion, bank performance guarantees and letters of 
credit are issued to the customer in support of the construction 
contracts as follows:

in the contract

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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As of December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech has outstanding bank 
performance guarantees and letters of credit in the amount of 
$6,021,000 in support of equipment construction contracts that 
have not completed their final acceptance test or that are still oper-
ating under a warranty period. Management of Fuel Tech believes 
that these projects will be successfully completed and that there 
will not be a materially adverse impact on Fuel Tech’s operations 
from these bank performance guarantees and letters of credit.

Product Warranties
Fuel Tech issues a standard product warranty with the sale of its 
products to customers. Fuel Tech’s recognition of warranty liability 
is based, generally, on analyses of warranty claims experience in the 
preceding years. Changes in the warranty liability in 2007, 2006 
and 2005 are summarized below (in thousands):

2007 2006 2005

Aggregate product warranty 
liability at beginning of year $472 $247 $137

Aggregate accruals related 
to product warranties 88 280 160

Aggregate reductions 
for payments (96) (55) (50)

Aggregate product warranty 
liability at end of year $464 $472 $247

8. Debt Financing

Fuel Tech has a $25.0 million revolving credit facility expiring July 
31, 2009. The facility is unsecured and bears interest at a rate of 
LIBOR plus 75 basis points. Fuel Tech can use this facility for cash 
advances and standby letters of credit. As of December 31, 2007 
and 2006, there were no outstanding borrowings on this facility. 

At December 31, 2007, the bank had provided standby 
letters of credit, predominantly to customers, totaling approximately 
$6,021,000 in connection with contracts in process. Fuel Tech 
is committed to reimbursing the issuing bank for any payments 
made by the bank under these letters of credit. At December 31, 
2007, there were no cash borrowings under the revolving credit 
facility and approximately $18,979,000 was available.

During 2007, under the $25.0 million facility, Fuel Tech 
requested and received a waiver to enable Fuel Tech to exceed 
the capital spending covenant specified in the facility agreement. 
The waiver was requested to accommodate Fuel Tech’s purchase 
of land and building for its new corporate headquarters.

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental Technologies Company, 
Ltd. (Beijing Fuel Tech), a newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Fuel Tech, entered into a revolving credit facility agreement during 
the third quarter of 2007 for RMB 35 million (approximately $4.8 
million), which expires on July 31, 2009. The facility is unsecured 
and bears interest at a rate of 90% of the People’s Bank of China 
(PBOC) Base Rate. Beijing Fuel Tech can use this facility for cash 
advances and bank guarantees. At December 31, 2007, Beijing Fuel 
Tech had borrowings outstanding in the amount $2,051,000.

Interest payments in the amount of $24,000 were made 
during the year ended December 31, 2007, and no payments were 
made during the years ended December 31, 2006 or 2005.

9. Related Party Transactions

As of December 31, 2007, Fuel Tech has a 4% common stock 
ownership interest in Clean Diesel Technologies, Inc. (CDT), which 
is being accounted for using the cost method. Fuel Tech is precluded 
from selling its interest in CDT except pursuant to a registration 
statement, or in a broker/dealer transaction within the limitations 
of Rule 144 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), 
or in an exempt private placement within the limitations of Rule 
144 of the SEC. Fuel Tech’s investment in CDT, whose shares 
are publicly traded on the OTC Bulletin Board and the Alternative 
Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange, had a market 
value of $8.2 million at December 31, 2007. Fuel Tech also owns 
25,000 warrants to purchase CDT common stock. The warrants 
have an exercise price of $10.00 and can be exercised on or before 
November 14, 2010. The value assigned to the warrants on the 
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2007 and 2006 is 
not significant.

On August 3, 1995, Fuel Tech signed a Management and 
Services Agreement with CDT. According to the agreement, CDT is 
to reimburse Fuel Tech for management, services and administra-
tive expenses incurred by Fuel Tech on behalf of CDT. Additionally, 
Fuel Tech charges CDT an additional 3% of such costs annually. 
For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, 
$72,000, $71,000 and $71,000, respectively, was charged to 
CDT as a management fee.

Pursuant to an assignment agreement of certain technology 
to CDT, Fuel Tech is due royalties from CDT of 2.5% of CDT’s 
annual revenue from sales of CDT’s Platinum Fuel Catalyst, com-
mencing in 1998. The royalty obligation expires in 2008. CDT may 
terminate the royalty obligation to Fuel Tech by payment of $12 
million commencing in 1998 and declining annually to $1,090,910 
in 2008. CDT as assignee and owner will maintain the technology 
at its own expense. To date, Fuel Tech has received approximately 
$46,000 in royalties. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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On April 30, 1998, Fuel Tech entered into an agreement 
with ABC for it to provide certain management and consulting 
services to Fuel Tech. Persons now or formerly associated with 
ABC currently own 21% of Fuel Tech’s Common Shares and 
warrants to purchase an additional 1.6 million shares, which 
expire on April 30, 2008. No fees were to be payable under the 
agreement for the first 24 months. This agreement was amended 
in 1999 to extend its term to April 30, 2002, and provide for the 
payment of a management fee of $10,417 per month commencing 
September 1, 1999, through May 1, 2000, and $20,833 per month 
until the termination of the agreement. The agreement was further 
amended effective May 1, 2002 to increase the management fee 
to $29,167 per month until the termination of the agreement as 
of April 30, 2004. Effective January 1, 2004, this agreement 
was terminated. 

As of January 1, 2004, two former employees of ABC who 
were Directors of Fuel Tech became employees of Fuel Tech. 
Concurrently, in early 2004, a new agreement was put in place 
between Fuel Tech and ABC. Effective January 1, 2004, a com-
pensation agreement was established whereby ABC will reimburse 
Fuel Tech for certain services that employees of Fuel Tech will 
provide to ABC. In addition, ABC is a sublessee under Fuel Tech’s 
January 29, 2004 lease of its executive offices in Stamford, 
Connecticut. ABC will reimburse Fuel Tech for its share of lease 
and lease-related expenses under the sublease agreement. Please 
refer to Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements for a further 
discussion of this topic. $30,000 is due from ABC at December 31, 
2007 related to the compensation and sublease agreements. 

10. Defined Contribution Plan

Fuel Tech has a retirement savings plan available for all U.S. 
employees who have met minimum length-of-service requirements. 
Fuel Tech’s contributions are determined based upon amounts 
contributed by Fuel Tech’s employees with additional contributions 
made at the discretion of Fuel Tech’s Board of Directors. Costs 
related to this plan were $802,000, $612,000 and $285,000 
in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

11. Business Segment, Geographic 
and Quarterly Financial Data

Business Segment Financial Data 
Fuel Tech segregates its financial results into two reportable 
segments representing two broad technology segments as follows:

NOxOUT®, NOxOUT CASCADE®, NOxOUT ULTRA® and 
NOxOUT-SCR® processes for the reduction of NOx emissions 
in flue gas from boilers, incinerators, furnaces and other 
stationary combustion sources, and

uses chemical processes for the control of slagging, fouling, 
corrosion, opacity, acid plume, loss on ignition and sulfur 
trioxide-related issues in furnaces and boilers through the 
addition of chemicals into the fuel using TIFI™ Targeted 
In-Furnace Injection™ technology. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

The “Other” classification includes those profit and loss items not allocated by Fuel Tech to each reportable segment. Further, 
there are no intersegment sales that require elimination.

Fuel Tech evaluates performance and allocates resources based on reviewing gross margin by reportable segment. The accounting 
policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. Fuel Tech does 
not review assets by reportable segment, but rather, in aggregate for Fuel Tech as a whole.

Information about reporting segment net sales and gross margin are provided below (in thousands):

For the year ended December 31, 2007
Nitrogen Oxide 

Reduction
Fuel Treatment 

Chemical Other Total

Revenues from external customers $47,750 $32,547 $       — $80,297
Cost of sales 25,775 16,619 77 42,471

Gross margin 21,975 15,928 (77) 37,826
Selling, general and administrative — — 24,950 24,950
Research and development — — 2,137 2,137

Operating income (loss) $21,975 $15,928 $(27,164) $10,739

For the year ended December 31, 2006
Nitrogen Oxide 

Reduction
Fuel Treatment 

Chemical Other Total

Revenues from external customers $46,454 $28,661 $       — $75,115
Cost of sales 26,328 11,932 169 38,429

Gross margin 20,126 16,729 (169) 36,686
Selling, general and administrative — — 23,901 23,901
Research and development — — 2,052 2,052

Operating income (loss) $20,126 $16,729 $(26,122) $10,733

For the year ended December 31, 2005
Nitrogen Oxide 

Reduction
Fuel Treatment 

Chemical Other Total

Revenues from external customers $32,650 $20,272 $ 6 $52,928
Cost of sales 16,744 10,096 278 27,118

Gross margin 15,906 10,176 (272) 25,810
Selling, general and administrative — — 17,414 17,414
Research and development — — 1,241 1,241

Operating income (loss) $15,906 $10,176 $(18,927) $ 7,155
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During 2007, Fuel Tech had two customers that individually represented greater than 10% of revenues. In total these two 
customers represented 23% of revenues. These two customers utilized the product line offered by Fuel Tech’s Nitrogen Oxide Reduction 
business segment.

During 2006 and 2005, Fuel Tech realized 25% and 13%, respectively, of its revenues from one customer. This customer utilized 
the product line offered by Fuel Tech’s Nitrogen Oxide Reduction business segment. 

Quarterly Financial Data 
Set forth below are the unaudited quarterly financial data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands, 
except share data).

For the quarters ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

2007(a)

Revenues $16,262 $16,210 $15,246 $32,579
Cost of sales 8,957 9,083 8,018 16,413
Net income 792 282 927 5,242
Net income per Common Share:

Basic $ 0.04 $ 0.01 $ 0.04 $ 0.23
Diluted $ 0.03 $ 0.01 $ 0.04 $ 0.21

2006(b)

Revenues $17,121 $19,759 $20,173 $18,062
Cost of sales 9,056 10,112 10,042 9,219
Net income 1,350 1,958 2,060 1,458
Net income per Common Share:

Basic $ 0.07 $ 0.09 $ 0.09 $ 0.07
Diluted $ 0.06 $ 0.08 $ 0.09 $ 0.06

(a) The total of the basic net income amounts per share for the four quarters ending December 31, 2007 does not sum to the amounts presented on the consolidated 
statement of income for the year ending December 31, 2007 due to rounding.

(b) The total of the diluted net income amounts per share for the four quarters ending December 31, 2006 does not sum to the amounts presented on the consolidated 
statement of income for the year ending December 31, 2006 due to rounding.

For the years ended December 31

2007 2006 2005

Revenues:
United States $67,534 $57,628 $41,721
Foreign 12,763 17,487 11,207

$80,297 $75,115 $52,928

December 31

2007 2006 2005

Assets:
United States $79,132 $62,190 $39,959
Foreign 8,082 3,470 4,116

$87,214 $65,660 $44,075

Geographic Segment Financial Data
Information concerning Fuel Tech’s operations by geographic area is provided below. Revenues are attributed to countries based on the 
location of the customer. Assets are those directly associated with operations of the geographic area (in thousands).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)
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Disclosure controls and procedures 
Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management 
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) 
under the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by 
our Annual Report on Form 10-K (the “Evaluation Date”). Based 
upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, our disclosure 
controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information 
required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is (i) recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the 
Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms and 
(ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including 
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, 
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Change in internal controls
There has been no change in our internal control over financial 
reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our 
internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting 
Fuel Tech’s management is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as 
such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. As 
required by Rule 13a-15(c) under the Exchange Act, Fuel Tech’s 
management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of 
Fuel Tech’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting 
as of the end of the last fiscal year. The framework on which 
such evaluation was based is contained in the report entitled 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the 
“COSO Report”).

Fuel Tech’s system of internal control over financial reporting 
is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements 
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal 
control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to 
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Based on its assessment, management has concluded that 
Fuel Tech maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria in “Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the COSO.

Controls and Procedures 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
 of Fuel Tech, Inc.

We have audited Fuel Tech, Inc. (a Delaware Corporation) and 
Subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2007 based on criteria established 
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial report-
ing based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions 
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial 
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to 
the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Fuel Tech, Inc. and Subsidiaries maintained, 
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established 
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by COSO. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 
2007 and 2006 and the related consolidated statements of income, 
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, 
and our report dated March 5, 2008 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on those financial statements. 

Chicago, Illinois
March 5, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
of Fuel Tech, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 
Fuel Tech, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 
31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then 
ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Fuel Tech, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 
2006 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the 
years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles gen-
erally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, 
the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48 Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB Statement 
No. 109, on January 1, 2007.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established 
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) 
and our report dated March 5, 2008 expressed an unqualified 
opinion on the effectiveness of the operation of internal control 
over financial reporting.

Chicago, Illinois
March 5, 2008
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Fuel Tech, Inc. 
(formerly Fuel-Tech N.V.)

We have audited the consolidated statements of income, 
shareholders’ equity and cash flows of Fuel Tech, Inc. for the year 
ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on 
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of 
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated results of 
Fuel Tech, Inc.’s operations and cash flows for the year ended 
December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

Chicago, Illinois
March 8, 2006
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Term Definition

ABC ................................................................ American Bailey Corporation

CAIR................................................................ Clean Air Interstate Rule

CAVR............................................................... Clean Air Visibility Rule

CDT................................................................. Clean Diesel Technologies, Inc.

CFD................................................................. Computational Fluid Dynamics

Common Shares ............................................... Shares of the Common Stock of Fuel Tech

Common Stock ................................................. Common Stock of Fuel Tech

EPA................................................................. Environmental Protection Agency

EPRI................................................................ Electric Power Research Institute

FUEL CHEM® ................................................... A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s fuel and flue gas treatment processes, 
including its TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™ technology, to control slagging, 
fouling, corrosion and a variety of sulfur trioxide-related issues

Fuel Tech......................................................... Fuel Tech, Inc. and its subsidiaries

Investors .......................................................... The purchasers of Fuel Tech securities pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agreement 
as of March 23, 1998

Loan Notes....................................................... Nil Coupon Non-redeemable Convertible Unsecured Loan Notes of Fuel Tech

NOx................................................................. Oxides of nitrogen

NOxOUT CASCADE® ......................................... A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s combination of NOxOUT and SCR

NOxOUT® Process............................................. A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s SNCR process for the reduction of NOx

NOxOUT-SCR® ................................................. A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s direct injection of urea as a catalyst reagent

NOxOUT ULTRA® ............................................. A trademark used to describe Fuel Tech’s process for generating ammonia for use 
as SCR reagent

Rich Reagent Injection Technology (RRI).............. An SNCR-type process that broadens the NOx reduction capability of the 
NOxOUT Process at a cost similar to NOxOUT. RRI can also be applied on a 
stand-alone basis.

SCR................................................................. Selective Catalytic Reduction

SIP Call............................................................ State Implementation Plan Regulation

SNCR .............................................................. Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction

TCI™ Targeted Corrosion Inhibition™.................... A FUEL CHEM program designed for high-temperature slag and corrosion control, 
principally in waste-to-energy boilers

TIFI™ Targeted In-Furnace Injection™.................. A proprietary technology that enables the precise injection of a chemical reagent 
into a boiler or furnace as part of a FUEL CHEM program

Table of Defined Terms
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Based on information from the Company’s Transfer Agent and from banks and brokers, the Company estimates that, as of February 20, 
2008, there were 24,000 beneficial holders of Fuel Tech’s Common Shares, including 304 registered stockholders. The Company’s 
Common Shares are listed on The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (Symbol: FTEK). High and low share prices are as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Share Price Share Price Share Price

High Low High Low High Low

First Quarter $29.68 $22.54 $16.75 $ 8.11 $ 6.85 $4.60
Second Quarter 38.20 21.65 18.80 11.15 7.20 5.10
Third Quarter 35.85 20.65 16.45 10.07 10.13 5.75
Fourth Quarter 34.48 16.89 27.44 14.40 10.12 7.24

Principal Locations

Fuel Tech, Inc. 
512 Kingsland Drive 
Batavia, Illinois  60510-2299

New address effective 
June 1, 2008: 
27601 Bella Vista Parkway 
Warrenville, Illinois 60555 
630-845-4500 
630-845-4501 (Fax) 
www.ftek.com

695 East Main Street 
Stamford, Connecticut  06901 
203-425-9830 
203-425-9823 (Fax)

Fuel Tech SrL
Centro Direzionale 
“Le Torri” 
Via Marsala, 34/A 
21013 Gallarate (Varese) 
Italy 
39.0331.701110 
39.0331.701099 (Fax)

Beijing Fuel Tech Environmental 
Technologies Co., Ltd. 
Room 1912, Tower B, 
Peking Times Square 
103 Huizhongli, Chaoyang District 
Beijing 100101, P.R. China 
86-10-8487 1472-1477 
86-10-8487 1470 (Fax)

Annual Stockholders’ Meeting

The Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 
will be held on May 22, 2008 at 
10:00 A.M. in Lisle, Illinois. A formal 
notice of the meeting, together with a 
proxy statement and form of proxy, 
will be mailed to stockholders on or 
about April 21, 2008.

Independent Auditors

Grant Thornton LLP
Chicago, Illinois

Transfer Agent and Registrar

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services 
480 Washington Boulevard 
Jersey City, New Jersey 07310-1900 
800-288-9541 
201-680-6578 (Int’l.) 
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner/isd

Investor Relations

Stockholder inquiries should be 
directed to:

Tracy H. Krumme 
Vice President, Investor Relations and  
Corporate Communications 
203-425-9830 
800-887-3835 
tkrumme@ftek.com

Fuel Tech, the stylized Fuel Tech logo, FUEL CHEM, the stylized FUEL CHEM logo, NOxOUT, NOxOUT CASCADE, NOxOUT – SCR, NOxOUT ULTRA, TCI Targeted 
Corrosion Inhibition, and TIFI Targeted In-Furnace Injection are registered trademarks of Fuel Tech, Inc. All other trademarks, brands and names are the property 
of their respective owners.
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